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          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Good afternoon.

          3  Welcome to City Hall and welcome to this hearing. I

          4  am Councilman Wendell Foster, Chairman of the

          5  Committee on Parks, Recreation, Cultural Affairs and

          6  International Intergroup Relations.

          7                 Today's hearing of the Committee on

          8  Parks, Recreation, Cultural Affairs and

          9  International Intergroup Relations will consider

         10  resolution no. 1696. This resolution, introduced by

         11  Council Members Freed, Reed, Linares, Perkins, also

         12  Council Members Foster, Quinn, Robinson and Sabini

         13  calls upon the appropriate Committee of the Council

         14  to hold an oversight hearing on the proposed

         15  relocation of the Museum of the City of New York

         16  from its long-time East Harlem location to the Tweed

         17  Courthouse in the back of City Hall.

         18                 The Museum of the City of New York

         19  was founded almost 80 years ago and has been a

         20  fixture in the cultural life of the East Harlem

         21  community in the City.

         22                 It's relocation leaves a void, a big

         23  void, in a community that has struggled mightily

         24  against the many problems that plagued urban

         25  America, a community that has begun to rise from
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          2  years of neglect.

          3                 Of particular concern to this

          4  Committee is the City Administration's intent

          5  disclosed at a recent budget hearing to allow the

          6  Museum of the City of New York to take with it the

          7  millions of dollars in capital money allocated by

          8  this Council and the Mayor to improve the Museum's

          9  present location.

         10                 How will the many needed improvements

         11  to the Museum's East Harlem facility be funded once

         12  the museum has, as proposed, leaves?

         13                 Who will occupy this East Harlem

         14  facility, and I might add, who cares, should the

         15  museum, as proposed, relocate?

         16                 These are among the questions that

         17  need to be answered and that are to be answered, we

         18  hope, today.

         19                 At this time we are going to

         20  introduce our Council Member Phil Reed, Council

         21  Member Provenzano, that's coming in, and others,

         22  Council Member Joel Rivera, our newest Council

         23  member.

         24                 Welcome to our Committee, Joel, and

         25  welcome to this hearing.
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          2                 Next to me, Joel is the youngest

          3  member of the Council.

          4                 How are you Joel?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thirty-two

          6  years old.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: You just made it.

          8  Just beat me by a year. That lie is as good as any.

          9                 Council Member Reed will give an

         10  opening statement, and then we will hear from our

         11  witnesses, and they are here.

         12                 Those are you who are desirous of

         13  testifying, please fill out one of the cards and

         14  give it to the sergeant.

         15                 We also happen to have the President

         16  of the Museum here, the Director Dr. Macdonald, we

         17  also have Commissioner Schuyler Chapin, and maybe

         18  they can give us an insight on what's going to

         19  happen to our community when it is decimated by the

         20  removal of this museum.

         21                 Mr. Reed.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you very

         23  much, Mr. Chair. And I appreciate you, and

         24  obviously, the Council's responsiveness to the

         25  concerns that in this particular case are specific
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          2  to the East Harlem, El Barrio community, regarding

          3  the question of the relationship the community has

          4  with its cultural institutions, and perhaps, more

          5  importantly, cultural institutions that are funded

          6  and in fact are part of the City of New York.

          7                 I phrased it that way because I think

          8  that every community in the City of New York is

          9  concerned when it sees an example of perhaps we

         10  should call it Mayoral royalty or the imposition of

         11  a thought without any discussion as how it impacts

         12  our community.

         13                 Specifically that the moving of the

         14  City of the Museum of the City of New York down to a

         15  different neighborhood in the community leaves a

         16  terrific void in the East Harlem community, as well

         17  as is what I think would be frightening for any

         18  community to think that without any dialogue or

         19  communication with that community and its leaders,

         20  that after a relationship of 70 years, you are able

         21  to just get up almost in the dead of night and

         22  announce that you are leaving, and there is really

         23  no sort of recourse that the community feels that it

         24  has.

         25                 So, whether that community is
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          2  Bayridge or Pelham Bay, I think that we, as the City

          3  of New York, and elected officials, have come

          4  together today to try to get some response from the

          5  Administration as to what was certainly the thinking

          6  behind this, how is it that it is something that is

          7  possible to do, this is separate from the museum

          8  itself that has sort of almost been put in a

          9  position of a hostage I think to this dialogue, but

         10  we also want to ask about the cost of the

         11  development of this proposed new home for the

         12  museum.

         13                 There is a building immediately

         14  across from us that we now are renovating it at cost

         15  to the City of close to $100 million, I don't think

         16  anybody is going to argue with that number.

         17                 Are those the kind of priorities that

         18  we have in terms of capital funding for the City of

         19  New York as it certainly decimates a community? And

         20  what is the relationship that the Museum itself has

         21  with the development of the Tweed Courthouse.

         22                 So, was it just whimsy on the part of

         23  this Administration that they chose to pull this

         24  museum out of one neighborhood and move it to

         25  another? And what oversight have we had over the
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          2  expenditure of the $100 million, and what are the

          3  additional costs that we may see? Do we have a final

          4  idea of what this whole thing is going to cost us?

          5  And what benefit do we as taxpayers of the City of

          6  New York get from this proposed move?

          7                 So, again, I appreciate your

          8  facilitating this Committee hearing today, and

          9  certainly the leadership in the Council has been

         10  responsible, as it usually is, to communities and

         11  these kind of questions?

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

         14  Council Member Reed.

         15                 We've also been joined by Council

         16  Member Freed, who will make her opening statement at

         17  this time.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, well,

         19  first I -- is that on? There we go. Is that better?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes, we hear you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

         22                 First I want to thank you for having

         23  this bill on today, and we'll also, I'll try not to

         24  reiterate some of the things Council Member Reed has

         25  said, except that this has been sort of an
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          2  extraordinary process, where you do take a museum

          3  that has existed in a community for 70 years and

          4  without any notice, without any input or comments

          5  from the surrounded community, either the elected

          6  officials, or the community board, or anyone in the

          7  neighborhood who has been benefitting from this

          8  museum and supporting this museum, and they

          9  unilaterally pick up and agree to move downtown

         10  without any input or comment or decision on the part

         11  of the downtown community.

         12                 So, there are actually two

         13  communities that are sort of disenfranchised by this

         14  move, the community that they're proposing to move

         15  the museum out of, where it has been an anchor for

         16  the community, and has been there and really has

         17  been the start of what's known as Museum Mile, and

         18  moving it down to the Tweed Courthouse, which while

         19  it's a well-honored tradition, since it is the Tweed

         20  Courthouse to have cost overruns, the 90 to 100

         21  million dollars that has been put into it is way

         22  above what was ever budgeted or was originally

         23  imagined to do the renovations for that space.

         24                 So, not only is there a dangerous

         25  precedent here where you have sort of a -- where you
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          2  put sort of a geopolitical war between

          3  neighborhoods, but in addition to that, the

          4  precedent for any other City-run, City-supported

          5  institutions, I mean, what will we do next? Pick up

          6  the Brooklyn Museum? Or the Brooklyn Art Museum in

          7  particular, since the Administration doesn't seem to

          8  like them anyway? Or maybe we will move the Astoria

          9  Science Center somewhere else.

         10                 I mean, if you allow this to happen

         11  without any input or recognition of the danger this

         12  does to the process, then who knows what could

         13  happen next? We think it's a very, very dangerous

         14  precedent that this sets.

         15                 And the fact that there is no input,

         16  as I said, from the neighborhood it's going into,

         17  there are many things that the downtown community

         18  could use, including tourism or an arts and cultural

         19  center, or a library, and there are a lot of things

         20  that we might see going into that building that

         21  would benefit this community without the loss to

         22  another community, and I just think this is the

         23  wrong way to do things.

         24                 The fact that we could not get a real

         25  assessment as to how much it's going to cost, the
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          2  fact that some of this may be driven by the

          3  Administration wanting to show that there was a

          4  reason they spent all of this money in renovating

          5  the Tweed Courthouse, and then there is the question

          6  of what about air rights and other potential

          7  dispositions of the museum building.

          8                 We think all of these have, you know,

          9  all of these are questions that hang out there that

         10  must be answered, because it is really up to this

         11  Council, when we do the budget, if we want to

         12  support the money for this move, and I will tell you

         13  right now, I am not in favor of supporting that, and

         14  I would have to be convinced that this is a move

         15  that is in any way to the benefit of the City and

         16  certainly to the neighborhood that's being affected,

         17  and I thank you for this hearing.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

         19  Council Member Reed -- Freed, excuse me.

         20                 We have been joined by Council Member

         21  Golden from Brooklyn, and I failed to mention to my

         22  right, the counsel is here, and to his right is Mr.

         23  Frank Neeley, general proctodeum and over in the

         24  corner watching of course is our person who reports

         25  to the press, whatever he may do, or whatever he
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          2  does, rather.

          3                 At this time we will hear from -- is

          4  there any other opening statement by the Council

          5  members?

          6                 If not, we will hear from

          7  Commissioner Schuyler Chapin, the Director of the

          8  Department of Cultural Affairs, Commissioner.

          9                 Is Mr. Glickman going to come with

         10  you or separate?

         11                 Is Mr. Glickman going to testify with

         12  you or separately?

         13                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I believe he is

         14  going to be sitting with me.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right, Mr.

         16  Mel Glickman and Susan Goldfinger, would you come

         17  to, please?

         18                 Sergeant, could I get another chair

         19  there for them, please?

         20                 Commissioner Chapin, it is always

         21  good to see you, and while we all know you, it's the

         22  custom for you and everyone else to identify

         23  themselves, because this is being recorded

         24  electronically. Will you do so, please?

         25                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Thank you, sir,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  yes.

          3                 I am Schuyler Chapin, the

          4  Commissioner of the Department of Cultural Affairs,

          5  and I'd like to say good afternoon to all the

          6  members of the Council assembled here, and I would

          7  like to introduce two members of the Department's

          8  staff who are here with me.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I can hardly

         10  hear you.

         11                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Yes, sir, I'm

         12  sorry, you can hardly hear me?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Right.

         14                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: All right, let

         15  me get --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Push it down,

         17  Schuyler, perhaps it's --

         18                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Yes. Now the

         19  green light is on, can you hear me?

         20                 I'd like to introduce two members of

         21  the Department's staff who are here today. My Deputy

         22  Commissioner Susan Rothschild, and Assistant

         23  Commissioner for Capital Projects, Susan Chin.

         24                 As you know, on December 12th, 2000,

         25  the Board of Trustees of the Museum of the City of
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          2  New York voted to accept the proposal that the

          3  Museum relocate its entire operations to the Tweed

          4  Courthouse in City Hall Park, now being restored by

          5  the City's Economic Development Corporation.

          6                 Upon EDC's completion of its work,

          7  the museum will outfit the facility for museum use,

          8  including the construction of exhibition,

          9  curatorial, educational and office spaces and any

         10  climate control security or other systems which may

         11  be required to safeguard the museum's collections.

         12                 The museum will have available for

         13  this purpose up to $18 million in City capital

         14  funds, which must be matched by the museum on a

         15  dollar-to-dollar basis.

         16                 The museum anticipates that this work

         17  will take 18 to 24 months to complete.

         18                 Let me now give you some reasons why

         19  this move makes sense.

         20                 The Tweed Courthouse will give the

         21  museum almost 110,000 square feet of usable space,

         22  as opposed to its about 68,000 square feet at its

         23  current location.

         24                 This additional space will enable the

         25  museum to greatly increase its current programs,
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          2  including the New York City history of learning

          3  center, which will have state-of-the-art interactive

          4  information systems and high-tech conference

          5  facilities and allow it to serve many more school

          6  children and teachers.

          7                 There is extensive access to the

          8  Courthouse by means of public transportation.

          9                 The site served by every major subway

         10  line and eight different bus lines.

         11                 In contrast, the only nearby subway

         12  stop to the museum's current location is the local

         13  stop on 103rd Street on the Lexington Avenue line,

         14  only five bus lines close to the museum.

         15                 Other advantages include the fact

         16  that thanks to the work of EDC, the museum will have

         17  a facility with all new systems - HVAC, fire safety,

         18  security, electrical, which meet all building code

         19  and ADA requirements.

         20                 The museum's current location is not

         21  up to code, and needs work to make it ADA compliant.

         22                 It should also be noted that moving

         23  to the Tweed Courthouse means that the museum will

         24  not have to close for an extended period of time as

         25  it would if it renovated its current facility.
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          2                 Perhaps most important, by moving to

          3  the City's civic center, the museum will be able to

          4  carry out its mission in a much more meaningful way.

          5  New Yorkers and visitors alike will have a much

          6  better sense of City government and how it has

          7  evolved over the centuries. The museum can call upon

          8  City officials for programmatic initiatives and can

          9  assist in how City history is presented at City

         10  Hall, for example, by giving tours.

         11                 The geographic area surrounding the

         12  Tweed Courthouse is, of course, where the history of

         13  New York City as we know it today began.

         14                 The Courthouse itself, while

         15  notorious for the fact that its construction

         16  contributed to the downfall of Boss Tweed, is

         17  nevertheless one of our most historic structures and

         18  an architectural marvel as we can all now appreciate

         19  thanks to the extraordinary work of EDC.

         20                 Another historic note: The site on

         21  which the Courthouse is located at one time was the

         22  home of the New York Institute of Learned and

         23  Scientific Establishments, founded by Dewitt Clinton

         24  in 1815, as one of the City's first cultural

         25  organizations.
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          2                 This nexus with the City's cultural

          3  past is a happy coincidence, and one which bodes

          4  well for the Museum's future.

          5                 To sum it up, it is important to

          6  state that the museum's mission is not specific to

          7  its neighborhood but is uniquely Citywide. By moving

          8  to the location where New York City history began,

          9  and to an area so well served by public

         10  transportation, the museum will be much better able

         11  to serve the entire City, and in particular, those

         12  who live in the boroughs outside of Manhattan, who

         13  now have to spend well over an hour to get to the

         14  Museum's current location.

         15                 In closing, I do want to affirm our

         16  commitment and that of the museum to East Harlem, an

         17  area that has an extremely rich cultural heritage,

         18  and one in which City-owned and supported cultural

         19  facilities, such as El Museo Del Barrio and the

         20  Julia DeBurgos Cultural Center have made such

         21  important contributions.

         22                 Although it is moving to the Tweed

         23  Courthouse, the Museum of the City of New York

         24  expects to keep its close ties to East Harlem and

         25  will continue to serve its residents, and to make a
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          2  special outreach to this community.

          3                 Mr. Chairman, that concludes my

          4  formal testimony, and I would welcome any questions

          5  you might have.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

          7  Commissioner.

          8                 The last paragraph, the last

          9  statement, how do you propose keeping its close ties

         10  with East Harlem, since you are moving out?

         11                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I think we can

         12  answer it in a variety of ways. The fact that the

         13  Museum is currently in East Harlem, as you know,

         14  historically the museum had its first home in Gracie

         15  Mansion, and when Gracie Mansion was to be renovated

         16  to become the home of the Mayor, the Museum's move

         17  was directed uptown to where it currently is.

         18                 The building, which began in 1932,

         19  was actually never completed because of the

         20  depression.

         21                 The reach into the community has been

         22  a part of the museum's history and a part of the

         23  museum's mission, and there doesn't seem to me to be

         24  any reason why that wouldn't continue.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I see. Thank you.
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          2                 Are there questions? Council Member

          3  Freed, and then Council Member Reed.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you.

          5                 Can you tell us how much the move to

          6  the Tweed Courthouse is anticipated to cost?

          7                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I can give you

          8  only an estimate on that at the moment, but just let

          9  me turn.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: May we have

         11  another chair up there, Sergeant, please?

         12                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: This is Deputy

         13  Commissioner Susan Rothschild who will try to answer

         14  that question.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And I apologize

         16  to her for walking out on her at our last hearing.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROTHSCHILD: Not

         18  at all. I'm very glad to see up up and well, Council

         19  Member Foster.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. Thank

         21  you very much. Thank you.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROTHSCHILD:

         23  Unfortunately, we can't give you an estimate at the

         24  moment about what the cost of the move is going to

         25  be.
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          2                 EDC is working with the museum right

          3  now to come up with cost estimates, and we should

          4  have better information on that in several months,

          5  but we don't at the moment.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: And when would

          7  you anticipate to make this move?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROTHSCHILD: The

          9  museum anticipates that it will take 18 to 24 months

         10  to complete the restoration and the outfitting, the

         11  doing of the work that the museum is going to do.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Does that

         13  assume that the Tweed Courthouse is otherwise ready

         14  to move into?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Excuse me. Can

         16  the audience hear?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Is it working?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: It's working.

         19  Thank you. All right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Is that

         21  working?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: It's working.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

         24                 I was asking if there was any, your

         25  18 to 24 months, does that include any time that to
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          2  make the Tweed Courthouse ready for the museum to

          3  move into it?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROTHSCHILD: The

          5  18 to 24 months, as I understand it, is the amount

          6  of time that the museum estimates for its work.

          7  Meanwhile, EDC is finishing up the building and they

          8  can perhaps give you a better estimate in terms of

          9  how much time they will need.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, and what

         11  do you propose to happen to the Museum building if

         12  you make this move?

         13                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: The Museum

         14  building, if this move takes place, the economic --

         15  EDC is about to issue a request for an expressed

         16  interest in the property.

         17                 At the moment we know of several

         18  organizations that have indicated an intense desire

         19  to be able to occupy it, starting with El Museo Del

         20  Barrio, who is looking to be able to expand, and

         21  several other organizations, which have made known

         22  to EDC their interest.

         23                 At this moment, no decision that I'm

         24  aware of has been made.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: All right. Is
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          2  it specifically stated anywhere that this will, the

          3  building will be used for a cultural institution? Or

          4  could it go to the highest bidder for anything from

          5  apartments to high-rises?

          6                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: To my knowledge,

          7  there has been no discussion of that building,

          8  except in terms of another cultural organization.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: But is there

         10  anything in writing that would --

         11                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: No, there is

         12  nothing in writing.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: -- Require it

         14  to be used by another cultural organization?

         15                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: There is nothing

         16  in writing about it, but that's been the general

         17  philosophic point of view.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Let me interrupt

         19  you a minute.

         20                 I think a lot of the questions should

         21  be answered by Mr. Glickman.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And Ms.

         24  Goldfinger.

         25                 Why don't we listen to the testimony,
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          2  and then come back, all right?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Sure. Okay,

          4  fine.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Mr. Glickman,

          6  would you just introduce yourself for the record?

          7                 MR. GLICKMAN: Good afternoon, Mr.

          8  Chairman, members of the Committee. Thank you for

          9  this opportunity to appear before the City Council's

         10  Committee on Parks, Recreation and Cultural Affairs,

         11  with regard to the relocation of the Museum of the

         12  City of New York to the Tweed Courthouse.

         13                 My name is Mel Glickman, I'm

         14  Executive Vice President of the capital program. I

         15  am in charge of renovating the Tweed Courthouse, and

         16  I am appearing on behalf of Michael Carey, the

         17  President of EDC.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Can you spell

         19  your name for me?

         20                 MR. GLICKMAN: G-l-i-c-k-m-a-n, is the

         21  last name, and it's Melvin A.

         22                 The Department of Citywide

         23  Administrative Services, DCAS, was originally

         24  solicited to stabilize the courthouse, consisting

         25  primarily of roof and stonework.
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          2                 The project was then transferred to

          3  EDC in March of 1999, and at that time it was

          4  decided that the entire building was to be

          5  renovated.

          6                 Thirty-nine million dollars was

          7  budgeted for the stabilization, and that money was

          8  transferred to EDC to fund part of the renovation.

          9                 The total cost of the renovation to

         10  the Courthouse will be approximately $85 million,

         11  and I can say it will not exceed $85 million.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: It will not --

         13                 MR. GLICKMAN: It will not exceed $85

         14  million.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: That's hard

         16  cost?

         17                 MR. GLICKMAN: Hard cost and soft

         18  cost, and every other cost.

         19                 The renovation which entails new

         20  heating system, air conditioning, windows, and other

         21  indoor renovation, in addition to the stairwork on

         22  Chambers Street and the street work accounts for the

         23  increase in funding.

         24                 The architect is John G. Waite, who

         25  was chosen by DCAS, and the construction manager is
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          2  Bovis Lend Lease, who was hired out of an RFP

          3  process conducted by EDC.

          4                 The Courthouse is being renovated to

          5  accommodate any type of use.

          6                 EDC is also currently working on a

          7  Request for Expression of Interest, an RFEI, for the

          8  building the Museum currently occupies on 5th Avenue

          9  and 103rd Street.

         10                 We expect to release the RFEI by late

         11  spring, early summer of this year.

         12                 Susan Goldfinger, Senior Vice

         13  President, from our Real Estate Division is here to

         14  answer any of your questions about the RFEI.

         15                 I can answer any of your questions

         16  about the physical construction of the building.

         17                 We thank you and we will be happy to

         18  answer any further questions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Glickman.

         21                 Ms. Goldfinger, would you have a

         22  statement or do you just want to answer questions?

         23                 MS. GOLDFINGER: Just questions, thank

         24  you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. Taking
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          2  the easy out.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 All right, Ms. Freed, I return to

          5  you.

          6                 All right, so I think that answered

          7  some of it.

          8                 Except when you said, when you are

          9  talking about the request for expressions of

         10  interest, is there any limitation on the use of that

         11  building?

         12                 MS. GOLDFINGER: Right now we are in

         13  the process of drafting that document, so it's not

         14  finalized by any means yet. But at present, we are

         15  contemplating an open-ended RFEI to allow for a

         16  variety of responses, anything that would be allowed

         17  as of right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay. Is that

         19  building landmarked?

         20                 MS. GOLDFINGER: The exterior of the

         21  building is landmarked.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Pull the

         23  microphone closer.

         24                 MS. GOLDFINGER: Sorry.

         25                 The exterior of the building is
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          2  landmarked.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: So, presumably,

          4  if someone wanted to purchase that, they would also

          5  be getting the air rights over the landmark.

          6                 MS. GOLDFINGER: There are --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Trade-offs.

          8                 MS. GOLDFINGER: Yes, there are some

          9  available air rights.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, I had one

         11  other quick question.

         12                 Would it be possible for the museum

         13  to expand in its present location?

         14                 MS. GOLDFINGER: I don't think I can

         15  answer that question. I don't really know.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Well, then let

         17  me ask another quick question which you may know.

         18                 As I understand it, the museum has

         19  just gone through a capital campaign where they were

         20  fixing up the building? Is that accurate?

         21                 MS. GOLDFINGER: Actually, I think

         22  those questions may be DCA or the museum could

         23  answer.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: When Mr.

         25  Macdonald comes, we will ask him that question,
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          2  please.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Is that all

          5  right?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Sure, fine.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Are you finished?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Yes, because I

          9  think Phil is going to ask about some of the local

         10  questions, so go ahead.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: We have been

         12  joined by Council Member Robinson from the Borough

         13  of Brooklyn.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 Council Member Reed.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chair.

         18                 Commissioner Chapin, I am trying to

         19  find out from our Committee Counsel the date, but if

         20  I recall, it was early January, the last couple of

         21  months that we had a tour, the Council -- this

         22  Committee had a tour of the Tweed Courthouse, and

         23  that same afternoon, or later that afternoon you

         24  came and testified to the Committee, and in the

         25  conversation that you and I had questions, you
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          2  indicated to me at that time that you at that moment

          3  had not been aware that the museum for the City of

          4  New York was going to move down to the Tweed

          5  Courthouse, and, so, therefore, you could not answer

          6  any questions about that; is that fairly accurate?

          7                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Yes, that's

          8  fairly accurate. The fact is that there has been a

          9  lot of general discussion about the Tweed Courthouse

         10  over the last several years, particularly as it

         11  might be used for a museum of City government. The

         12  fact that urban America was basically, followed the

         13  pattern in New York City of establishing cities, the

         14  lack of this kind of museum on specifically city

         15  government was something that was of concern to the

         16  Administration. And, so, there were talks and there

         17  were some thinking going toward what might happen in

         18  that general area, if the Tweed Courthouse was in

         19  fact renovated, but it was, that was as far as we

         20  had gotten.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: In your

         22  testimony today, in your, as always, elegant

         23  commentary about the benefits and things, this is

         24  all made up since -- and the deed was done?

         25                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Well, I wouldn't
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          2  put it quite that way.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, I'm not as

          4  elegant as you, but essentially since back in

          5  January you were clueless, and now all of a sudden

          6  there is a lot of benefit, so you may have had time

          7  to reflect on why that benefit is there, but you

          8  weren't reflecting fire to the move.

          9                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Well, let's say

         10  I wasn't reflecting in detail in January when we

         11  talked, but between January and March, it became

         12  advisable for us to think very clearly about it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I see.

         14                 Do you, I'm sure you're familiar with

         15  the Gugenheim?

         16                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I am.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And the Frick?

         18                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: And the Frick,

         19  yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Do you know how

         21  many subway lines accommodate those buildings?

         22                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Well, the Frick

         23  would be accommodated by the Lexington Avenue Line,

         24  by Fifth Avenue bus, by Madison Avenue, I've never

         25  doped it out quite as precisely as we have in terms

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  of the extraordinary access of public transportation

          3  that the Tweed Courthouse has --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: No, as a public

          5  official, I always try to stay away from that word

          6  "dope," but you're on the last part of this term,

          7  so I've got another term, so I'm going to stay away

          8  from that word.

          9                 Is it fair to say that the very same

         10  subway system that serves the Museum of the City of

         11  New York, where it's presently located on the same

         12  bus routes, are exactly the same ones that you have

         13  to take to the Frick, the Gugenheim and the Museum,

         14  the Metropolitan Museum of Art?

         15                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I think that's a

         16  fair observation.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, if we use

         18  that sort of argument that you're using, maybe we

         19  ought to pick the Frick up, or maybe we ought to

         20  move the Gugenheim some place that's more accessible

         21  to other people who live in the City of New York;

         22  could we use that same logic?

         23                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: No, I wouldn't

         24  use that logic, because what we're talking about

         25  here is the Museum of the City of New York. The

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  Museum of the City of New York is what its name

          3  implies, and it has to be and should be the museum

          4  of the entire City. The accident of the availability

          5  of the Tweed Courthouse and its particular location

          6  here in the Center of City government, seems to me

          7  to be a very compelling reason why it becomes more

          8  accessible to more people in the City, but I use

          9  that only as a point which goes into, in my view,

         10  the consideration for such a move.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, you and I

         12  can get into the logistics of things. It takes me a

         13  half an hour to get from my house or my office down

         14  to this building.

         15                 It takes some of my colleagues an

         16  hour, hour and a half to get here. So, what's

         17  accessible to some is not accessible, necessarily,

         18  to others. And I know that even one of my colleagues

         19  on this Committee, she happens to be wrong, but most

         20  of the time she is right, thinks that the excess

         21  issue down here makes it better for her, but so the

         22  Bronx and Upper Manhattan and other parts of the

         23  City, the issue of accessibility is a very

         24  subjective sort of thing, and you say it takes over

         25  an hour to get it to the Museum of the City of New
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          2  York where it is located, but could we just sort of

          3  agree that that's all sort of objective?

          4                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I would agree

          5  that it's objective, but I think it's objective in a

          6  plus factor way in terms of this proposed move.

          7                 As I said a moment ago, this area,

          8  where we are sitting now, is the core of City

          9  government.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You also, in

         11  your testimony, you discussed the amount of square

         12  footage that's going to be available in the new

         13  Tweed Courthouse.

         14                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: It's my

         16  understanding that we have, that the present museum

         17  of the City of New York has architectural plans and

         18  drawings and is already with their plan to go ahead

         19  for a renovation and an expansion at the sites that

         20  they are presently located at; is that something

         21  that you are familiar with?

         22                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Yes, they have

         23  been considering this for some time.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And that

         25  expansion would have given the museum how many
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          2  square feet?

          3                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I'm not sure of

          4  the exact amount but my guess --

          5                 MS. GOLDFINGER: I thought it was

          6  about 96,000.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: May I suggest

          8  something, Commissioner, Council Member Reed?

          9                 Sergeants, could we have two other

         10  chairs, please? Let's get a little closer, two other

         11  chairs.

         12                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Ninety-two

         13  thousand feet.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Ninety-two.

         15                 So, the point is that you, in your

         16  argument you talk about the fact that there is only

         17  68,000 square feet right now at the present location

         18  and they move up to 110, but the fact of the matter

         19  is that there is already plans underway to expand

         20  the existing site so that they would end up with

         21  about 92,000. So, your argument about the 68 versus

         22  the 110 is really a little disingenuous, am I right?

         23                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: No, I wouldn't

         24  say it was ingenuous, as you know, in museums every

         25  square foot that becomes available for exhibition
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          2  space is totally valuable to the museum's purposes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Let me ask you,

          4  Commissioner, since you said in your testimony that

          5  the overall Tweed Courthouse, or perhaps that's what

          6  Mr. Glickman said, the reality is that the Tweed

          7  Courthouse renovation, the $85 million to renovate a

          8  five-story building, without any contribution from

          9  the private sector, which is typically what cultural

         10  institutions are supposed to do, there was no direct

         11  and immediate plan to use that as a museum, and we

         12  don't really know, and perhaps I should ask this as

         13  a question, is the entire Tweed Courthouse going to

         14  be for museum space?

         15                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: The major part

         16  of the Tweed Courthouse is going to be for museum

         17  space.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: What part of 110

         19  is major?

         20                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: The 110 that

         21  we're talking about, I don't know the full

         22  dimensions of the building, but 110,000 square feet

         23  of that building will be usable space for the

         24  museum, as opposed to the 68,000 that is presently

         25  there, or the 92 that would come if the renovations
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          2  were completed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I guess the

          4  point I'm trying to make is that the museum of the

          5  City of New York has plans underway right now,

          6  drawings, it's all ready to go, for an expansion,

          7  which would give them 92,000 square feet of space,

          8  the problem has been that the City has demanded that

          9  they raise private funds to match any City funds.

         10                 I'm just curious now, we've just, by

         11  Mr. Glickman's testimony, are going to spend $85

         12  million, which I'm not sure anybody can understand

         13  what you did with $85 million in a five-story

         14  building, but we are going to get to that line of

         15  questioning in a minute, so we're going to make a

         16  gift of this $85 million for the Museum of the City

         17  of New York, and end up with essentially the same

         18  amount of square footage for exhibition space.

         19                 With all respect, it's a different

         20  amount of space for exhibitions.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: A different

         22  amount.  It was downtown, it's got to be different.

         23                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Also, the $18

         24  million of capital funds that has been allocated to

         25  the Museum of the City of New York must be matched
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          2  on a dollar to dollar basis.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But,

          4  Commissioner, the outfitting or the retrofitting.

          5  So, just so my colleagues are clear here, we're

          6  spending, by Mr. Glickman's testimony, $85 million

          7  to renovate a building that we had no specific use

          8  for. We didn't know exactly what we were going to

          9  get or what we were going to end up in the building

         10  after we spent $85 million, and in your testimony,

         11  you're now telling me that the museum is going to

         12  have to contribute another $18 million so that we

         13  can retrofit a building that we haven't finished

         14  fitting to make it so that it will take the Museum

         15  of the City of New York.

         16                 So, in reality, putting a museum in

         17  the City of New York at a minimum is going to cost

         18  at least 85 plus the 18. Because you can't move the

         19  museum in there unless you spend the other 18,

         20  right?

         21                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: The museum, in

         22  its current allocation of capital funds, would have

         23  to raise the $18 million to match the $18 million

         24  that the City has.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, in reality
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          2  that's going to cost $36 million more over the $85

          3  million to actually have the museum of the City of

          4  New York housed in the Tweed Courthouse - 18, 18 and

          5  85?

          6                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Yes. But may I

          7  suggest that, first of all, a decision was made to

          8  renovate the Tweed Courthouse. That decision was

          9  made and the process was undertaken to do it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Who made that

         11  decision?

         12                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I do not know.

         13  It was made --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Does anybody at

         15  the table have any idea who made that decision?

         16                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: It was made by

         17  the Mayor's Office.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: The Mayor's

         19  Office decided to renovate the Tweed Courthouse. And

         20  they decided to renovate the Tweed Courthouse for

         21  the purpose of?

         22                 MR. GLICKMAN: For the purpose of

         23  restoring it to, the exterior of the building was in

         24  really bad shape, it had towers holding up the

         25  marble, the marble was falling down, and it was
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          2  unsafe.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: We could say

          4  that about at least 30, 40 schools in our districts.

          5                 MR. GLICKMAN: This was dangerous.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, we've had

          7  buildings fall on kids, so we know what dangerous

          8  is.

          9                 MR. GLICKMAN: And, so, a decision was

         10  made to renovate the building, keeping -- since it

         11  is a landmarked building there were certain criteria

         12  that had to be done, things could not be varied from

         13  the original, and a budget was put together to

         14  stabilize, replace the roof, put in new windows, put

         15  in the stairs on Chambers Street and do a complete

         16  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: To do what?

         18  Stairs?

         19                 MR. GLICKMAN: Put the entrance stairs

         20  back down onto Chambers Street.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Let me ask you

         22  this, because we are getting a little bit further

         23  away from where I want to be at the moment, but

         24  we're going to take up a lane of traffic, we're

         25  going to change the way people walk down the street,
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          2  was there any environmental impact statement done on

          3  this? Was there a traffic study done? Did anybody go

          4  -- I know I can't change the traffic patterns in

          5  any part of my block, community, I don't think

          6  Council Member Robinson or Quinn, Rivera or even

          7  Provenzano, with all of her magic in the Bronx,

          8  could actually change the size, and the street; did

          9  anybody study this?

         10                 MR. GLICKMAN: Yes, sir.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: They did?

         12                 MR. GLICKMAN: Yes, sir.

         13                 The Department of Transportation had

         14  done a traffic study.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Was that traffic

         16  study shared with anybody in the public?

         17                 Was there any commentary taken by

         18  anybody who lives down here in this neighborhood?

         19                 MR. GLICKMAN: I really can't say

         20  that. I don't know.

         21                 But the stairs will not take up a

         22  lane of traffic. They will take up an illegal

         23  parking lane which has been used by various City

         24  departments to illegally -- and also the general

         25  public -- to illegally park cars along Chambers
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          2  Street.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay, so we have

          4  established now by your testimony, that the City has

          5  spent at a minimum $85 million to renovate a

          6  building right next door; that's a true statement,

          7  right?

          8                 MR. GLICKMAN: Yes, sir.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And after we did

         10  it, we committed the $85 million without knowing

         11  what it was exactly we were going to use the

         12  building for.

         13                 MR. GLICKMAN: We commissioned a

         14  study, Councilman, by a professional firm to study

         15  the various uses that the building could be put to,

         16  depending on its configuration, room sizes, and the

         17  building code.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And do you know

         19  how much money at DCAS or EDC had spent prior to

         20  this $85 million for capital improvements?

         21                 MR. GLICKMAN: EDC had spent nothing.

         22  I don't know what DCAS --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, the $3

         24  million that they spent to fix the elevators prior

         25  to the closing of the building had nothing to do --

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            42

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  was a part of this, or that was something separate?

          3                 MR. GLICKMAN: That was something

          4  separate.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So there was

          6  several million dollars that were spent in capital

          7  funds to shore up that building before you even

          8  spent the $85 million.

          9                 MR. GLICKMAN: Yes, sir.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay. So, now

         11  we've got 85 million, and we've got 18 and 18,

         12  that's 36 million.

         13                 So, unless, because I really was

         14  terrible at math, that's why I went into politics,

         15  so, that's $116 million that we, you've testified

         16  to, plus a couple of million dollars that was front

         17  end that we haven't even discussed, right?

         18                 MR. GLICKMAN: Yes, sir.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: To move the

         20  Museum of the City of New York, now that we've come

         21  up with that as a reason, and you've told the Museum

         22  of the City of New York they have to, of that money

         23  they have to contribute 18 million.

         24                 Now, when the Museum of the City of

         25  New York was talking about the expansion and drawing
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          2  up the plans and calling in the elected officials to

          3  try to request support for the restoration and the

          4  expansion of the site on 103rd, we were told that we

          5  had to match that money 50 percent; is that right?

          6  In order for the museum to have, to be able to

          7  expand uptown, they had to, as most of these public

          8  facilities do, they have to raise 50 percent of the

          9  money; is that right, Schuyler?

         10                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Yes, that's

         11  correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay. So, if we

         13  just took the 18 out of that, now we're at 99 --

         14  help me here, Christine, I'm a little shaky, you're

         15  just about as shaky as I am, it's about 100, $100

         16  million so far that the City is contributing to this

         17  without asking anybody to raise any private money;

         18  is that -- that's about how the math works out,

         19  doesn't it?

         20                 MS. GOLDFINGER: Seems close.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, that's

         22  terrific, that's fabulous, and I'm sure that if

         23  there was any place else that we could point to, and

         24  I'm trying to do the square footage of what, that's

         25  about a thousand dollars a square foot, for the
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          2  restoration of a building, and I'm trying to see, is

          3  there any parallel that we have in any other capital

          4  projects that you guys have taken on?

          5                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I don't know of

          6  any.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Mr. Glickman?

          8                 MR. GLICKMAN: There are probably

          9  other buildings in this City --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But you are the

         11  senior vice president in charge of capital projects?

         12                 MR. GLICKMAN: That's correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So you might

         14  have some knowledge about the typical square foot

         15  cost of capital projects?

         16                 MR. GLICKMAN: I have never done a

         17  restoration of this magnitude on this type of a

         18  building --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I don't think

         20  anybody else has either. That's what we're talking

         21  about.

         22                 I have a lot of other questions to

         23  ask the Museum of the City of New York, but the

         24  Chair has certainly been patient in this round, so I

         25  will certainly let my colleagues follow up with
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          2  anything they have about this in this round.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          4                 Let me do this, please: I had

          5  promised the Borough President that I'd get her out

          6  of here, on and out as quickly as she came in, as

          7  soon as she came in, so if you could just remain

          8  where you are, we can bring another chair.

          9                 Commissioner, don't leave.

         10                 Could you just come over here, Madam

         11  Borough President? I want to keep my word. I try to.

         12  We are coming back.

         13                 Welcome, Madam Borough President, and

         14  identify yourself for the record, you know the

         15  score, and tell us why you're here.

         16                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: I never had

         17  to fix this this way.

         18                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you so

         19  much, and thanks to all of -- Schuyler Chapin and

         20  all of the members of his staff who are with him

         21  today for allowing me to sort of intervene at this

         22  time in order to keep a schedule where I have to do

         23  a radio, a television show, actually, in about 20

         24  minutes.

         25                 But I did want to come by and, first
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          2  of all, thank the Committee for holding this

          3  hearing, Mr. Chairman, because this is, as you've

          4  heard, I'm sure, a critically important issue, not

          5  only in the East Harlem Community, but I think

          6  throughout the City, certainly here in the Borough.

          7  I think that relocating the Museum of New York,

          8  obviously it was done, as I'm sure you've heard,

          9  without the benefit of consultation or discussion

         10  with the local community board, with the Council

         11  member, and certainly it was not done with the

         12  knowledge of the Borough President, and to make this

         13  kind of decision, especially effecting a community

         14  where we are seeing an increase in tourism. We are

         15  attempting to expand city resources throughout the

         16  Borough of Manhattan, as I continue to say, our

         17  emphasis is on creating one Manhattan, opportunities

         18  for all, including expanding our cultural

         19  institutions, and in this instance this would be

         20  taken away from a community, an institution that

         21  means a tremendous, you know, amount in this

         22  community, as well as resources.

         23                 This is an institution, as I know all

         24  of you are aware, has been in that community now for

         25  some 70 years, and it forms the end of what we call
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          2  Museum Mile in Manhattan, and at least at that point

          3  we are looking to extend it, hopefully, beyond the

          4  103rd Street area where this museum is currently

          5  located.

          6                 So, this museum means a lot to people

          7  not only in terms of the resources that it brings,

          8  the tourism that it helps to promote, but the fact

          9  that it is one of our great City institutions that

         10  this community certainly should not be subjected to

         11  losing.

         12                 So, I support Council Member Reed's

         13  objections to the Administration, pulling a resource

         14  from a community that relies on it heavily for

         15  tourism, but also for cultural enhancement.

         16                 I understood, however, that the Tweed

         17  Courthouse wants to serve as an annex to the museum,

         18  and I basically support that idea still. Such a

         19  plan, as I understood it, would free up space uptown

         20  to exhibit more of the collection, but at the same

         21  time with higher traffic in the City Hall area, many

         22  thousand more New Yorkers and tourists would be able

         23  to experience the historical collection.

         24                 But anyone wanting to learn more

         25  about the influences that shape and develop the
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          2  cultural of New York City could then visit the

          3  uptown branch again, making all of the resources

          4  within Manhattan available throughout and building

          5  up on tourism and keeping important institutions in

          6  the northern part of Manhattan is clearly key to

          7  that. But turning momentarily from that sensible

          8  plan, considering the costs of renovating the Tweed

          9  Courthouse, we all heard that the public figure is

         10  in the neighborhood of $90 million, and the Mayor

         11  has committed another $30 million to renovate the

         12  Museum of the City of New York to bring it up to

         13  code. That would make the total project estimated to

         14  be about $120 million to date, Mr. Councilman.

         15                 However, again, relocating it is

         16  directly related to cost, but is also related to

         17  lost, and a devastation, rather, that in my view,

         18  would take place in that local community.

         19                 So, I applaud the work that you are

         20  doing, and I would just simply add that we need to

         21  think this through much -- give much more careful

         22  thought to what should ultimately happen here beyond

         23  what I believe happened when this decision was made.

         24                 There needs to be broad-based input,

         25  because of what this institution means to the
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          2  community and the loss of what this institution

          3  would mean to this community.

          4                 We also need to look at it because

          5  the museum has moved out, we then are potentially

          6  faced with a vacant building, with no commitment

          7  necessarily to renovate the building.

          8                 So, all of these are questions that I

          9  think certainly would have been helpful before the

         10  decision was made, but not having been asked, and

         11  not having been consulted, not having had an

         12  opportunity to comment on it, I think that the

         13  Administration certainly lost in terms of having

         14  good insight on these things from the perspective of

         15  a boroughwide elected official, as well as on the

         16  perspective of a local Council Member, and certainly

         17  that of a community board.

         18                 So, your hearing this today I hope

         19  will bring the additional light and focus on what

         20  should be done, and hopefully we will be able to

         21  come to some decision that all of us can work and

         22  live with together.

         23                 Thank you so very much, and, again,

         24  thank you, Commissioner.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Madam
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          2  President.

          3                 Just before you leave, if we could

          4  get a copy of your testimony. If you don't have

          5  copies, we will have copies made.

          6                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: I think the

          7  stack is here.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: They do have

          9  copies now?

         10                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Quickly, are

         12  there any questions just for the Borough President?

         13  If not, we'll excuse her and go back to the

         14  testimony of the others.

         15                 Christine, I know you have one.

         16                 Council Member Quinn, excuse me.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I don't have a

         18  question, I was just mouthing thank you to the

         19  Borough President. That's all.

         20                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         22                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Thank you

         23  so much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         25                 Now, Dr. Macdonald, come back,
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          2  please. Thank you for yielding your seat for a short

          3  time. Thank you very much.

          4                 Council Member Freed. Council Member

          5  Freed, and the other Council Members, Dr. Macdonald

          6  is here from the Museum, as is Ms. Rossetti -- is

          7  that it?

          8                 MS. ROSSETTI: Rosetti.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Rossetti is here

         10  from the Museum, would you rather hear that

         11  testimony before he continues to ask questions?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Well, actually,

         13  I wanted to ask a question, I wanted to ask a

         14  question of Schuyler.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right. Only

         16  he can answer.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Well, I think

         18  so, because one of the things that we're really

         19  concerned about this is just the precedent that it

         20  sets of moving one institution that has been

         21  grounded one neighborhood where you've already done,

         22  there was a request already in process that had been

         23  made of the community to do a capital campaign and

         24  to increase it, where they certainly had every

         25  reason to assume that the museum was staying there
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          2  and it was going to be improved, to suddenly move it

          3  to another place, and I'm just wondering if that

          4  doesn't cause potential problems with the precedent

          5  and other institutions in this City.

          6                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I can understand

          7  your question very well, but I don't honestly think

          8  so. The opportunity --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Why?

         10                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I will tell you,

         11  or try to.

         12                 The opportunity of something like the

         13  Tweed Courthouse, or a Tweed Courthouse, suddenly

         14  appearing on the horizon, is highly unlikely.

         15                 The Tweed Courthouse has been a

         16  fascinating problem and opportunity for many years,

         17  where in point of fact it was let to be run down,

         18  and when the need, safety need, as we've heard

         19  started the whole renovation process, after due

         20  processes of looking at what needed to be done, and

         21  the idea of the satellite for City government, which

         22  was part of the original reasoning behind the

         23  renovation, and the expansion of that into the

         24  totality of the museum itself, came about as

         25  progress was being made in terms of renovating the
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          2  building.

          3                 So, I don't think, unless there is

          4  some hidden some place that I know nothing about at

          5  all, that it's apt to happen quite the same way

          6  again.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Well, let me

          8  just point out that there are a number of other

          9  buildings downtown, starting with the Essex Market,

         10  and a number of Seaport buildings that are either

         11  City-owned or that are landmarked, that it would

         12  have been wonderful if instead of selling them off

         13  to the highest bidder, or in some cases just putting

         14  them in other packages, that we could have gotten

         15  money from the City, certainly in the Seaport area,

         16  to renovate some of those gorgeous old buildings,

         17  that could have been then used also either by the

         18  City of New York. And in fact, if you're looking to

         19  an area that talks about the real seat of where New

         20  York City started, maybe the Seaport would have been

         21  a good place to look to.

         22                 In other words, there were a number

         23  of other buildings throughout the City that, for one

         24  reason or another, if there was a decision made to

         25  try and renovate them, could be very, very easily
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          2  used as cultural treasures for this City.

          3                 So, it's just that it just seems to

          4  me that having an administration determine pretty

          5  much unilaterally that without any input from the

          6  community that its in, that the institution is

          7  currently in, or without any input from the

          8  community into which you're talking about moving it,

          9  just is not the way to do government.

         10                 Unilateral decisions are just not the

         11  way democracy should work, and there should be input

         12  from both communities, and I think that's true for

         13  any kind of cultural institution. Every community in

         14  this City that has a cultural institution in it

         15  makes certain assumptions about those cultural

         16  institutions and many times makes certain sacrifices

         17  for those cultural institutions because they believe

         18  it is   valuable to keep them in their community.

         19  And that whole process the community was cut out of

         20  because of the way it was done.

         21                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I would like

         22  just to make one comment, if I might?

         23                 The South Street Seaport, which is

         24  already, as you know, in the middle of a renovation

         25  of public/private partnership, in terms of both the
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          2  Seaport Museum and the buildings around it --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Except that the

          4  South Street Seaport Museum has been allowed to

          5  language for years and years and has been begging

          6  the City to fulfill its original commitment to them,

          7  and it has been an ongoing problem, and right now

          8  we're looking at a deteriorating Pier 15 that they

          9  can't do anything with because they don't have the

         10  money for it.

         11                 And in addition to that, I'm also

         12  talking about the seaport historic district, which

         13  we had, this City has not put any money into, and is

         14  busily trying to sell it off, and we've already

         15  allowed a number of buildings to deteriorate and

         16  fall apart without stepping in and putting some

         17  money to them.

         18                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I have, I really

         19  have no comment I can make to that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right. Any

         21  other questions?

         22                 Would you like to excuse Mr. Glickman

         23  and Ms. Goldfinger, and Commissioner Chapin?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I think we may

         25  end up coming back to some questions.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Stick around for

          4  a little while?

          5                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Yes, of course.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes, just a

          7  minute. Council Member Golden from Brooklyn.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I just have

          9  one question.

         10                 Do you plan to have a tenant for the

         11  East Harlem property before you move it, the Museum

         12  downtown?

         13                 MS. GOLDFINGER: There is a long lead

         14  time between now and when the Museum can actually

         15  move into the building, and between now and then we

         16  are issuing, actually shortly we hope to issue a

         17  request for expressions of interest for the East

         18  Harlem building, so we hope to be able to have

         19  someone in place at that time.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: How many

         21  people visit the Museum presently? Do we know?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Identify

         23  yourself, please.

         24                 DR. MACDONALD: I am Robert Macdonald,

         25  Director of the Museum of the City of New York.
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          2                 Currently it is about 275,000.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Annually.

          4                 DR. MACDONALD: Annually, yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And what's

          6  your projected goal for the move to Boss Tweed?

          7                 DR. MACDONALD: 600,000 annually.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Very good.

          9  You're doubling it. So you're gaining 40,000 square

         10  feet, you're increasing programs to serve more kids

         11  in schools, public transportation is better, it's

         12  centrally located, it's ADA compliant, all of these

         13  pluses, correct? Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

         15  Council Member Golden.

         16                 Council Member Robinson.

         17                 Now is this to --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Well, I

         19  guess, Mr. Chairman, it's just a general statement

         20  in regards to this issue.

         21                 For some time now, when I served in

         22  my previous capacity as liaison to the Comptroller

         23  of the City of New York in the eighties, there was

         24  always this relationship that was there that

         25  anything past 96th Street was tabu. And it appears
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          2  as though there is a cultural gentrification taking

          3  place. Not only do we see it in terms of the

          4  cultural gentrification, in terms of everything

          5  being committed to one particular area, but we also

          6  see it in terms of a housing gentrification is

          7  taking place throughout the City of New York in

          8  various communities.

          9                 So, when people talk about not being

         10  consulted in regards to that, there is a concern for

         11  the lack of services that will be there and be

         12  available for them, and also for people to have

         13  available space of their own.

         14                 So, I just want to make that comment,

         15  that there is a deep concern in regards to that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

         17  Council Member.

         18                 All right. Thank you. Again, thank

         19  you, all. Please try to stick around a little while.

         20  We will do this as quickly as possible, but as

         21  thorough as we can, all right?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: If Mr. Glickman

         23  is going to leave, then I need to ask him some

         24  questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Must you leave
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          2  right now, Mr. Glickman?

          3                 MR. GLICKMAN: Absolutely not.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: He will wait.

          5                 Why don't you just stay where you

          6  are, please.

          7                 Dr. Macdonald, why don't you

          8  introduce yourself again, and also Ms. Rossetti, and

          9  let's hear from you and perhaps we can just do this

         10  together.

         11                 DR. MACDONALD: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: You don't really

         14  have to leave. Oh, you are shifting chairs. All

         15  right, thank you.

         16                 DR. MACDONALD: Thank you, Chairman,

         17  and members of the Committee. I'm Robert Macdonald.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: May I interrupt

         19  you to say --

         20                 DR. MACDONALD: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you for

         22  this beautiful book you presented us. I looked

         23  through it, it's quite wonderful. Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 DR. MACDONALD: You're more than
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          2  welcome, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          4                 DR. MACDONALD: That book was done on

          5  the occasion of the Museum's 75th Anniversary, and

          6  the reason I've given it to members of the Committee

          7  is to show them the scope and richness of this world

          8  class collection held by the Museum of the City of

          9  New York, that has been so underutilized and

         10  undervalued, unfortunately, for most of the Museum's

         11  history.

         12                 In any case, I'm Robert McDonald,

         13  Director of the Museum of the City of New York, and

         14  with me this afternoon is Evelyn Rossetti, the

         15  Museum's Deputy Director for Learning.

         16                 We are pleased to appear before this

         17  Committee, whose purpose is to address the very

         18  issues that have been fundamental to the mission

         19  advanced by the Museum of the City of New York for

         20  the past 78 years. That mission is to serve as a

         21  significant learning resource by collecting,

         22  preserving and presenting the cultural materials

         23  that mark New York City's journey through time.

         24                 In so doing, the Museum has provided

         25  all New Yorkers the opportunity to strengthen an
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          2  understanding and appreciation of the individual and

          3  shared heritages, a knowledge so essential to the

          4  well-being of a community as complex and diverse as

          5  New York.

          6                 We hope that our testimony will

          7  underscore the importance of that mission, and how

          8  the relocation of the Museum to the heart of the

          9  civic center, in a building providing more than

         10  twice the space of the Museum's current building,

         11  will significantly advance and expand the Museum's

         12  tradition of service to the people of this City.

         13                 From its new location, the Museum of

         14  the City of New York will be able to embrace the

         15  entire City, and more effectively reach out to its

         16  boroughs and neighborhoods.

         17                 By creating a quality cultural

         18  attraction, and a center of learning adjacent to the

         19  elected appointed and civic leadership of New York,

         20  the Museum will inform generations of New Yorkers

         21  about the dynamic history of their community as a

         22  necessary component for understanding the present

         23  and planning wisely for the future.

         24                 The Museum of the City of New York at

         25  the Tweed Courthouse will be a gateway to our City
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          2  and a world class cultural institution celebrating

          3  one of history's most important communities.

          4                 It is projected that in its enlarged

          5  space and located at the hub of the City's public

          6  transportation system, the Museum will more than

          7  double its annual attendance to 600,000 visitors and

          8  greatly expand its services to the students and

          9  teachers of the City schools in all five boroughs.

         10                 Over the years the Museum has

         11  presented a variety of exhibitions and collected,

         12  the single most important collection of materials

         13  related to the historic patrimony of this City,

         14  dating from the time of New Amsterdam to the

         15  present. In fact, the Museum has been described as

         16  the Smithsonian Institution of New York City.

         17                 The Museum's collections are truly

         18  world class, and the Museum has presented this

         19  treasure in critically acclaimed exhibitions, award

         20  winning educational programs, popular and scholarly

         21  publications.

         22                 Some of the Museum's exhibitions,

         23  after appearing in New York have traveled to museums

         24  throughout the United States and abroad, to cities

         25  such as Tokyo, Paris, Stockholm, Cologne and
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          2  Coppenhagen.

          3                 This coming September we will be

          4  sending our renown photographic show, Gotham Comes

          5  of Age, to St. Petersburg, Russia, as part of an

          6  exchange program with our sister institution in that

          7  city.

          8                 It is to build on these achievements

          9  and to expand the Museum

         10  s capacity to serve as a quality cultural attraction

         11  and a major center of learning that the Museum's

         12  Board of Trustees unanimously accepted Mayor

         13  Giuliani's offer to relocate the Museum, dedicated

         14  to telling the almost 400 year history of our City

         15  to the heart of the Civic Center and on the very

         16  site where the City's cultural life began in 1815.

         17                 While serving as a Citywide national

         18  and international educational and cultural resource,

         19  the Museum has been mindful of its immediate

         20  neighbors in East Harlem.

         21                 The Museum helped establish the East

         22  Harlem Historical Organization, and continues to

         23  promote its programs.

         24                 The Museum established the Stickball

         25  Hall of Fame, mounted an exhibition by the same name
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          2  and works yearly with the neighborhood to develop

          3  stickball events in East Harlem.

          4                 In fact, last summer we had the World

          5  Series of Stickball teams from Florida and

          6  California.

          7                 We are especially proud of our work

          8  with Manhattan School District 4, which is one of

          9  several school districts throughout the City with

         10  which we have a special relationship.

         11                 The Central Park East Elementary 1

         12  Mixed Chorus has been the Museum's glee club for the

         13  past ten years and will continue to be so at the

         14  Tweed Courthouse.

         15                 For years we have worked with Union

         16  Settlement and Mount Sinai Hospital in presenting

         17  such exhibitions as Growing Old in Spanish Harlem.

         18  Songs of My People: The New York Melody, was an

         19  exhibition we developed at the Photographic Center

         20  of Harlem to accompany the nationally renown

         21  exhibition Songs of My People: African Americans, A

         22  Self-Portrait.

         23                 Two years ago we presented the

         24  nationally acclaimed exhibition, Americanos: Latino

         25  Life in the United States, and presented a wide

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  variety of programs that involve Latino communities

          3  throughout New York City.

          4                 The museum plans to continue its

          5  special programmatic initiatives in Upper Manhattan,

          6  while expanding its services to communities and

          7  neighborhoods throughout the City.

          8                 To give you an example of the

          9  diversity of our subject matter and our programming,

         10  the museum is the only museum in the United States

         11  that has an ongoing program to collect and document

         12  gay and lesbian history, and in a few weeks will

         13  open a special exhibition Gay Men's Health Crisis:

         14  Twenty Years of Fighting for People with HIV/AIDS.

         15  This coming November we will open the exhibition A

         16  Community of Many Worlds: Arab Americans in New

         17  York.  A scholarly book published with Syracuse

         18  University Press will accompany this exhibition, the

         19  first ever on the important Arab community of this

         20  City.

         21                 We are working with School District

         22  20 in Brooklyn with a major grant from the National

         23  Endowment for Humanities to develop a curriculum

         24  resource materials to be used in all the public and

         25  private schools of the City on this important
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          2  aspect, highlighting the rich diversity that makes

          3  New York New York.

          4                 At the Tweed Courthouse, and I

          5  brought with me a brochure which outlines some of

          6  the programs that we're planning for the Tweed, we

          7  are going to develop for the first time a major

          8  exhibition on the entire City's history, a 30,000

          9  square foot exhibition we're developing with Ralph

         10  Applebaum Associations, entitled New York, New York:

         11  City of Nations that will capture the chronology of

         12  New York, but also the enduring themes that define

         13  New York from its very beginning, diversity, the

         14  entrepreneurial spirit and the struggle for

         15  individual liberty.

         16                 We are also an international resource

         17  and a national resource. Last week 12 colleagues

         18  from Russia were at the Museum to learn how to put

         19  on exhibitions. We have advised groups throughout

         20  the United States and in Europe on the development

         21  of City museums.

         22                 Last October I gave a keynote address

         23  in Moscow to all the city museums of Russia. We have

         24  advised groups in Washington, D.C., San Francisco,

         25  New Orleans, and most recently, at the request of
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          2  Councilman Reed, a representative from Los Angeles,

          3  regarding the development of a city museum.

          4                 As a center of learning the Museum of

          5  the City of New York is also a center of research on

          6  the history of this City. Each year we assist 4,000

          7  scholars who use our collections as primary

          8  resources.

          9                 We are currently serving over 6

         10  million visitors and are annually on our critically

         11  acclaimed home page in the world wide web, mnyc.org.

         12  For the first time at the Tweed the museum will be

         13  able to consolidate its library and archives to

         14  create an additional important research center on

         15  the history of this City.

         16                 I have given you our annual report

         17  also, which describes our most recent activity and

         18  programs. The museum at the Tweed will add to the

         19  cultural and educational life of New York. It will

         20  be the hub of edification where New Yorkers and

         21  visitors can begin their intellectual and physical

         22  exploration of New York.

         23                 Adjacent to City Hall, the museum

         24  will be a showcase for the City, where important

         25  visitors can be introduced to the people, places and
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          2  events that have been central to creating the

          3  metropolis we know today.

          4                 Here we will celebrate in exhibitions

          5  and programs that diversity, that entrepreneurial

          6  spirit and that struggle for liberty that has marked

          7  the people of New York from the time of New

          8  Amsterdam.

          9                 It will be a site for lectures,

         10  performances, dance, and other programs for youth,

         11  adult and family audiences. The relocation of the

         12  museum of the City of New York to City Hall Park, in

         13  the magnificently restored Tweed Courthouse will

         14  create an institution worthy of the name, the Museum

         15  of the City of New York.

         16                 I would now like to ask Ms. Evelyn

         17  Rossetti, our Deputy Director for Learning to

         18  describe very briefly the Citywide services we

         19  currently give to teachers and students and adults

         20  and scholars in how they will be enhanced by our new

         21  location at the Tweed Courthouse.

         22                 Ms. Rossetti.

         23                 MS. ROSSETTI: Thank you.

         24                 Thank you, Mr. Macdonald, Mr.

         25  Chairman, and members of the Committee.
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          2                 It is my honor, our honor to be here

          3  with you this afternoon to help elucidate the

          4  mission of the museum and our plans for expansion

          5  downtown at the Tweed Courthouse.

          6                 As Mr. Macdonald was mentioning, our

          7  space is severely curtailed, as our programs are

          8  severely curtailed at our current location. We have

          9  merely outgrown our space.

         10                 As a result of which there are

         11  several school children, public groups, community

         12  groups, adult groups that we cannot serve, as a

         13  result of having only one auditorium, only being

         14  able to accommodate six school groups per day, due

         15  to severe space, and in addition, not having

         16  adequate eating or parking facilities, at our

         17  current location.

         18                 We will by no means be turning our

         19  back on our current neighbors, but embracing the

         20  larger scope and breath of New York City citizens

         21  while continuing to maintain our close ties to East

         22  Harlem.

         23                 As Mr. Macdonald was mentioning, we

         24  are one of the founding members of the East Harlem

         25  Historic Organization. We host an annual symposium,
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          2  which we will continue to do when we move, and, in

          3  fact, with our increased space, we will be able to

          4  attract, we hope, a larger audience to attend and

          5  bring awareness of this important resource in the

          6  East Harlem Community.

          7                 We also march side-by-side with the

          8  citizens of El Museu Del Barrio, and with the East

          9  Harlem community each year in the Three Kings Day

         10  Parade. We will also continue to do that. And

         11  through systemic and careful planning with Community

         12  School District 4, we will continue our educational

         13  programs that provide services to the youth and the

         14  parents of that community.

         15                 But in addition, we are also serving

         16  districts throughout the City. As Mr. Macdonald, the

         17  Director, mentioned, we currently have a partnership

         18  with Community School District 20, in collaboration

         19  with our Arab Initiative. Community School District

         20  20 currently has the largest Arab immigrant

         21  demographic in the City of New York. We received a

         22  very healthy grant from the National Endowment of

         23  the Humanities to develop a curriculum that will be

         24  used Citywide and resources that can be used

         25  Citywide in East Harlem as well, who also has a
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          2  developing Arab community, and we've invited them to

          3  our programs and will be participating in our

          4  programs.

          5                 We plan to open this exhibition at

          6  our current location, 1220 Fifth Avenue this coming

          7  winter, and will certainly invite all communities

          8  throughout the City to partake in it, and we'll make

          9  our educational resources available through the

         10  worldwide web and through publications, as well.

         11                 As you'll note from the testimony

         12  before you, we have a long list of Citywide

         13  partners. In addition to District 20 in Brooklyn, we

         14  are also working with District 22 on a gifted arts

         15  program for elementary school students.

         16                 Unfortunately, these students

         17  frequently spend more time on the bus attempting to

         18  reach the Museum, hence the one-hour travel time for

         19  the Museum of the City of New York, than they do

         20  experiencing quality education programming.

         21                 Our move downtown will lessen their

         22  commute and allowing more time for educational

         23  programming to take place, which is our aim.

         24                 Another one of our partners,

         25  Community District School 6, Washington Heights in
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          2  Manhattan, would seemingly have an easier time

          3  reaching us at our current location. Ironically,

          4  they do not.

          5                 Recently at Clavasule (phonetic),

          6  which is a student-comprised Salsa group, was going

          7  to perform for junior high school students from

          8  Community School District 4. Their bus got stuck in

          9  traffic and spent at least two hours sitting still,

         10  and the concert had to be postponed.

         11                 With access, and greater access to

         12  public transportation, such things would not have to

         13  happen. The students could have taken the subway or

         14  a bus or other means of transportation. And we're

         15  hoping that our move to the Tweed will not only make

         16  us more accessible to our Northern Manhattan

         17  neighbors, as well as our neighbors in Brooklyn.

         18                 We're also working with Community

         19  School District 31 in Staten Island, again, they

         20  frequently spend more time on the bus than in the

         21  institution. Our move to the Tweed will open those

         22  doors.

         23                 We have a Citywide program, New York

         24  City History Day, part of a national initiative,

         25  it's the largest urban history competition and
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          2  program in the country.

          3                 We reach out to parents, students and

          4  teachers throughout the City of New York. Without a

          5  tangible history learning center, we frequently

          6  become a movable feast, and the staff, as well as

          7  the students, spend more time in transit than

          8  actually training sessions.

          9                 So, we look forward to this move to

         10  better prepare the students of New York to be

         11  citizens, and to enhance and increase our

         12  programming today.

         13                 I welcome any questions that you may

         14  have.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, both.

         17                 Let me say, I've spent many happy

         18  hours, as you know, Dr. Macdonald, with you at the

         19  museum, and I have enjoyed everything that I've seen

         20  you do there, and I am particularly interested to

         21  know what's going to happen. The last time I brought

         22  a group of our Council members there, we spent an

         23  hour or more where you showed us an exhibition of

         24  what you planned to do there in renovating that

         25  museum.
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          2                 What about those plans, and what's

          3  going to happen to the money you raise for that

          4  purpose?

          5                 Will that money stay there for that

          6  museum or come down here?

          7                 DR. MACDONALD: Mr. Chairman, the

          8  museum's capital campaign has to date raised almost

          9  $11 million. We, my Board of Trustees, who voted

         10  unanimously to accept the Mayor's office, has

         11  contacted all of the donors to the museum's capital

         12  campaign, which was originally intended to renovate

         13  and complete the building on Fifth Avenue, to

         14  determine if those pledgers and donors would be

         15  willing to have their funds directed to the museum's

         16  fitting out at the Tweed Courthouse for our use, and

         17  the answer has been unanimously yes on the part of

         18  our donors.

         19                 So, the museum is refocusing after

         20  the decision of the board to raise the funds, to

         21  develop the type of quality programming that will,

         22  in fact, enhance our ability to reach out to all of

         23  New York as a quality educational resource center of

         24  learning.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: But in your
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          2  asking the donors, did you ask whether they would

          3  like to have some of that money remain there to

          4  maintain that building, to enhance it, et cetera, or

          5  just ask the question would they like to transfer

          6  it?

          7                 DR. MACDONALD: The letter from the

          8  Chairman of the Board was specifically to tell the

          9  donors that the Board had made a decision to move

         10  the museum, to relocate the museum to the Tweed, and

         11  whether in fact the donors wished to continue their

         12  support of the museum's capital project at that new

         13  location, and the answer has been yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And, so, the

         15  answer is no to my question?

         16                 DR. MACDONALD: Yes, that's correct --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 DR. MACDONALD:-- The private donors.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'll yield to Mr.

         21  Reed.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Macdonald, for your being here and your testimony,

         24  and Ms. Rossetti, it's all terrific. And none of

         25  this hearing is directed at the Museum of the City
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          2  of New York in a negative fashion. You guys are

          3  perhaps fortunate, depending on your viewpoint, you

          4  know, I'd like to say I'd like a two-bedroom

          5  apartment downtown, but, you know, the City's not

          6  giving me one, it would be closer to work but then

          7  with term limits I might have to move back uptown.

          8  So, I just want you to understand that in my asking

          9  for this hearing, to understand the excessive and

         10  unilateral decisions that are made to spend a

         11  thousand dollars per square foot for the development

         12  of the building with negligible return to the City,

         13  has nothing to do with you guys.

         14                 The community I think still embraces

         15  what you have done, you and I, Mr. Macdonald, had

         16  some conversations about how we could work better

         17  together, but this isn't about you. You guys think

         18  you're going to move, if I were on your board, I

         19  would have voted for the move too, that's not the

         20  point.

         21                 And I don't mean to take exception

         22  with a colleague who's not here, but, you know,

         23  Council Member Golden said, well, you know,

         24  obviously you're going to end up with a system of

         25  HVAC and handicapped accessible; in your design for
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          2  the renovation and the expansion, were not all those

          3  issues accommodated?

          4                 DR. MACDONALD: Yes, they were.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Ms. Rossetti,

          6  you were discussing parking; are you going to get

          7  parking down here at the Tweed Courthouse?

          8                 MS. ROSSETTI: No. But there are a

          9  greater number of public parking lots down here than

         10  currently in our East Harlem location.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I can't -- if

         12  you ask anybody that I know down here, we can't even

         13  use our own parking permits outside of the City Hall

         14  lot, so to tell me that it's going to be you can

         15  park down here near the Tweed, I hear the staff even

         16  laughing. So, I'm not sure that we could say that

         17  that was a benefit does not -- unless the Mayor is

         18  secretly digging up underneath the ground here and

         19  it's a parking lot -- do you know any of that,

         20  Jonathan? You haven't heard that part of it.

         21                 So, it seems to me that any honest

         22  person would say that it is really apples and

         23  oranges here if we were able to fund your expansion,

         24  the restoration and expansion that you wanted

         25  uptown, you would really end up essentially with the
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          2  same kind of opportunities in the facility. I don't

          3  think even fair-minded people were going to stretch

          4  one way or the other here.

          5                 So the question really becomes, how

          6  did we get to that status? I think all of us know

          7  that over the last eight years, and to be

          8  charitable, over several administrations we have

          9  seen a complete advocation of the responsibility on

         10  the part of the City to adequately fund cultural

         11  institutions, whether it is from the Expense side or

         12  the Capital side. And your building that you're in

         13  presently didn't fall into disrepair because you

         14  just ignored it, did it, Mr. Macdonald?

         15                 MR. MACDONALD: No.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You didn't have

         17  the funds to fix it.

         18                 MR. MACDONALD: Well, we did not have

         19  the funds to fix it, and the City 15 years ago, we

         20  had to do an existing condition report 15 years ago,

         21  to get it started, and before that time, why the

         22  building was neglected I really don't know.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay, but the

         24  point is that the City itself and this

         25  Administration and the previous administration, as I
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          2  commented before you came in the room, Mr. Golden,

          3  have really neglected the capital infrastructure

          4  that's required to sustain our cultural

          5  institutions; would you agree to that, Commissioner

          6  Chapin?

          7                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I would agree to

          8  the fact that over the years there has been a

          9  certain neglect, I think I wouldn't dispute that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Don't go any

         11  further, that's okay.

         12                 So --

         13                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: But I would like

         14  to say in this Administration, a great deal of that

         15  neglect has been and is in the process of being

         16  changed.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And that's

         18  because we've seen a terrific boom in the economy,

         19  and as long as you match it dollar for dollar. But

         20  the fact of the matter is, that there is not a

         21  dollar for dollar contribution being made to move

         22  the Museum of the City of New York to the Tweed

         23  Courthouse, there being a huge gift.

         24                 So, my question is, and I think most

         25  of my colleagues could find this relevant in their
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          2  district, what is the City going to give the

          3  Community of East Harlem other than an empty

          4  building with some plywood on it with a sign that

          5  says moved downtown? What are we going to get?

          6                 Is it not fair to think that the

          7  community of East Harlem should think, okay, this

          8  guy got $100 million building downtown, and they put

          9  up 18 million, that's just, you know, I like those

         10  odds, that's not bad, it's an investment. What are

         11  we going to get? Are we going to get the opportunity

         12  to have a building that's falling down? And an

         13  opportunity to have it vacated, and then the

         14  opportunity to have to raise dollar for dollar,

         15  money, year after year, before we're able to move

         16  anything into it? Is that what we're left with here?

         17                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I think the --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Maybe Mr.

         19  Glickman ought to answer.

         20                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I don't know.

         21  I'm sure that Mr. Glickman can give you part of the

         22  answer, because we do not work at arm's length with

         23  EDC. They're wonderful companion --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You tell me you

         25  didn't know what they were doing, but you know --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I beg your

          3  pardon?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You tell me you

          5  didn't know what they were doing, but --

          6                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I didn't say

          7  they didn't know what they were doing.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You told me

          9  earlier you weren't aware that this was all

         10  happening.

         11                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I said to you

         12  earlier when we discussed this that I was aware of

         13  the fact that there were conversations leading to

         14  the possibility that certain parts of the Tweed

         15  Courthouse would be used for a museum of City

         16  government.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay.

         18                 So, what are you going to give East

         19  Harlem when and if this were to move forward?

         20                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Let me try and

         21  answer that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay, and I will

         23  try to be quiet.

         24                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Okay, thank you.

         25                 The fact of the matter is that the
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          2  building that they will vacate should be, and in my

          3  view, will be used for further cultural purposes

          4  that will be of benefit to that community and the

          5  rest of the City.

          6                 As I indicated earlier today, there

          7  have been a number of organizations that have

          8  expressed interest in that building, leaving --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: My question is

         10  who is going to pay for it? That's what I'm trying

         11  to figure out.

         12                 Who's going to pay for those new

         13  institutions to have a building that is handicapped

         14  accessible, got all the climate control it needs,

         15  and all those things that we're saying is necessary,

         16  and that's why the other people are running

         17  downtown; who's going to pay for it?

         18                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I believe that

         19  the payment for the renovation of the physical

         20  facility that the museum will be leaving will fall

         21  into the pattern of a public/private partnership,

         22  and that it will be a combination of both City and

         23  private monies.

         24                 You just take -- let's just take an

         25  example.
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          2                 I mean, I have no idea because this

          3  decision will be based upon a request for proposal

          4  for what an institution might want to do. But let us

          5  just take, as an example, El Museo Del Bario, which

          6  is a very important cultural institution for the

          7  City, brought up to an extraordinarily high level by

          8  its current and extraordinary director.

          9                 The fact of the matter is that they

         10  cannot move physically within the framework of the

         11  building that they occupy.

         12                 If they are fortunate enough to be

         13  awarded the use of the building that will be vacated

         14  by the City of New York, in order to accomplish

         15  their purposes they will continue to function on a

         16  public/private basis, the way all cultural

         17  institutions do.

         18                 I do not see the move of the Museum

         19  of the City of New York as in any way going to

         20  damage the East Harlem community.

         21                 I do see that the change that will

         22  come will be of enormous benefit to the Museum of

         23  the City of New York as has been eloquently laid out

         24  by its director.

         25                 And in addition to that, further
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          2  expansion of cultural activities into the building

          3  occupied by the City of New York for some years, and

          4  in the process that building will have to be

          5  renovated. The building, or any building of that

          6  nature, has to be renovated, and it is my belief

          7  that that renovation will be on the public/private

          8  partnership, which means, yes, participation of City

          9  money, and, yes, participation of private money.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, maybe we

         11  could get the same level or ratio of participation

         12  of public/private money that we are essentially

         13  seeing down here at the Tweed Courthouse. So that

         14  whatever the ratio is, where Robert and his group is

         15  going to raise $18 million and we're going to

         16  contribute $100 million. So, whatever that ratio,

         17  that's about one to five, or something like that,

         18  maybe that would be a fairer ratio for us to look at

         19  for the future home of whatever may go into that

         20  other building; would you think that might be fair?

         21                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Not completely.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Why not?

         23                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Well, I will

         24  tell you.

         25                 The decision to renovate the Tweed
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          2  Courthouse was the decision made on a number of

          3  different basis, including safety of the building,

          4  the disintegration of the building itself.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Isn't that

          6  what's happening uptown at the Museum of the City of

          7  New York?

          8                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Yes. But not to

          9  the extent, not to the extent of the Tweed

         10  Courthouse.

         11                 The major problem with the building

         12  uptown now is its roof, which is something that will

         13  have to be taken care of.

         14                 But within the framework of any

         15  changes in that building, if it's another cultural

         16  institution, they're going to want to redesign in

         17  order to accommodate their purposes, as opposed to

         18  the purposes of the Museum of the City of New York.

         19                 There is no perfect answer to your

         20  question, there is only the fact that the vacating

         21  of that building and the moving of the museum here

         22  will allow for further cultural enrichment in the

         23  East Harlem area.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, you take

         25  something away, you don't add anything, but there's
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          2  an enrichment in that mathematics?

          3                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I wouldn't put

          4  it on the basis of taking something away.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You are taking

          6  the museum and moving it downtown. You tell me you

          7  are going to put El Museo there, but El Museo is

          8  already a block away, so the neighborhood does gain

          9  anything. So, in your math, enrichment ends up one

         10  minus -- two minus one and give you one, but somehow

         11  you are enriched by that.

         12                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I'm -- you know,

         13  El Museu in its mission is severely limited by the

         14  physical size of its --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: El Museo has its

         16  own issues, that's not the issue here. We're looking

         17  to expand El Museo. As you know, I've contributed,

         18  you know, with the cooperation of the speaker and my

         19  colleague, a significant amount of capital money to

         20  the renovation of that building, which, by the way,

         21  is a City-owned building a block away, which has

         22  scaffolding all around it because it's in violation

         23  of Local Law 10, it's falling down, and the capital

         24  EDC nor your agency is willing to put a dime into

         25  the restoration of that building, so it's sitting
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          2  there with scaffolding and the director of that

          3  museum that you say is doing a terrific job, and she

          4  is, is begging me, the Council, for a quarter of a

          5  million dollars so the damn thing doesn't fall down.

          6  But somehow a building falling down on Fifth Avenue

          7  and 105th Street does not warrant quarries in

          8  Upstate New York, having roads repaved, to bring the

          9  original marble down so we can repair it. That,

         10  Commissioner, seems to be the difference between

         11  what you're doing downtown and what's happening

         12  uptown.

         13                 So, my question is, do you really

         14  think that it is a fair swap or equation here that

         15  you guys spent 18 million downtown, get $100 million

         16  for doing business down here, and you leave us

         17  struggling to figure out what to do, and if we raise

         18  the money you might help.

         19                 Now, I'm not -- just trying to

         20  understand enrichment.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Answer that, and

         22  then we have to go to Ms. Quinn, and come back for

         23  the next round. Anyone care to try to answer that

         24  question?

         25                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: It's a hard
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          2  question to answer if you put it on a literal dollar

          3  to dollar basis. There isn't any answer.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: When I go to my

          5  landlord, the only equation he wants literal, dollar

          6  for dollar. My charm or my status in the Council

          7  don't add up to a damn thing if I don't hand him

          8  some rent.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: That's

         10  regrettable.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Isn't that

         12  regrettable?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes.

         14                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: The last comment

         15  that I could make about this is what I have tried to

         16  make during the course of these discussions.

         17                 I think the accident of the necessity

         18  of repairing the Tweed Courthouse played into the

         19  possibility of an expansion of the Museum of New

         20  York that was not preconceived to be there, but as

         21  the renovation began and as this, the idea of a

         22  supplement to the museum of, the museum of city

         23  government, it became evident to various people

         24  studying the problem that maybe the most

         25  advantageous thing would be to move the whole
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          2  museum.

          3                 This was not something that started

          4  as being a preconceived idea to do, it grew out of

          5  the activities that took place in renovating the

          6  building.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

          8  Commissioner.

          9                 Thank you, Council Member Reed.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         11                 First, I'm a little confused about

         12  something. Isn't the Museo Del Barrio moving in?

         13                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: No. What is

         14  happening is EDC will an issue an RFP for an

         15  expression of interest, which will go out to those

         16  people who have already made inquiry about the

         17  building, but it will also go out to a lot of other

         18  areas of the City.

         19                 When those replies come in, the EDC

         20  will, hopefully in consultation with us and others,

         21  will present what seems to be to them the most

         22  logical application.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Who has

         24  expressed interest in the building? Who are the

         25  others?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: The only ones

          3  that I know of are the ones that have been in touch

          4  with me about it. One is the Museum of African Art,

          5  which would like to use the building as a temporary

          6  place while their building further up Fifth Avenue

          7  is being constructed.

          8                 The El Museo Del Barrio, and there

          9  are a couple of others, I just don't recall which

         10  ones.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So, even the

         12  kind of scenario that Council Member Reed put out of

         13  their being two and now one isn't even definite,

         14  right?

         15                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Being two, I

         16  don't understand.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I guess what I

         18  heard Council Member Reed saying was presently,

         19  today, there is the Museum of the City of New York,

         20  and Museo Del Barrio, in the area, and both of whom

         21  have serious physical structural concerns and issues

         22  in their homes.

         23                 So, if the City of New York was to go

         24  to the Tweed Courthouse, the Museum of the City of

         25  New York, and then Museo Del Barrio was to go to
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          2  where the City of New York used to be, within that

          3  area you would have had two museums and now you

          4  would have one museum. But that equation that

          5  Council Member Reed alluded to isn't even a given.

          6                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Yes, but in the

          7  case, I mean, we are just taking a hypothetical

          8  case, because El Museo may not be the one it ends up

          9  with --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Understood. I'm

         11  just trying to --

         12                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: But if they do,

         13  they would expand their activities by virtue of the

         14  additional facility, not give up --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Or there could

         16  be this request for expressions of interest and, you

         17  know, a museum not on the list of ones that you

         18  mentioned could apply and could end up doing

         19  something very different with the building. Because

         20  as you just said, you hoped EDC will communicate

         21  with DCA and others, but I didn't get from what you

         22  said any real commitment that that physical space

         23  will definitely be a museum, be a museum that is in

         24  any way, shape or form connected to the interests of

         25  the neighborhood.
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          2                 I mean, is the RFEI only going to

          3  cultural institutions? Is that definitely going to

          4  be a museum?

          5                 MS. GOLDFINGER: Hi. I'm Susan

          6  Goldfinger from EDC. I could answer that question

          7  for you.

          8                 At this point we are just drafting

          9  the RFEI, it's a Request for Expressions of

         10  Interest, which could potentially lead to an RFP,

         11  Request for Proposals, or if there are good

         12  responses to the RFEI, we could just select someone

         13  based on the RFEI response.

         14                 At this point, we are looking to cast

         15  a wide net to see really what interest there is in

         16  the market, and we have not -- but it's just in the

         17  draft stage at this point. At this point it is not

         18  limited to cultural groups, but we certainly will

         19  look at that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So, actually,

         21  the scenario is probably worse than Council Member

         22  Reed even saw.

         23                 I mean, you could go not from two to

         24  one, albeit maybe one plus, in the sense that Museo

         25  Del Barrio would have more space for their exhibits.
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          2  You could go from two museums, to one museum still

          3  with insufficient space, and then something else in

          4  the Museum of the City of New York, which then I

          5  would add, leaving Museo Del Barrio in a physical

          6  structure which doesn't meet their needs, which then

          7  places the very real perspective that they might

          8  have to move and in fact out of the neighborhood as

          9  well, which I'm not wishing or suggesting, but that

         10  it is real, so things are even worse. Because just

         11  to be clear, I don't really understand, there is not

         12  a commitment from EDC or the City of New York that

         13  what is presently the structure that houses the City

         14  of New York will house another cultural institution?

         15                 I understand you're going to put that

         16  out there and look at it, but there is not the

         17  commitment.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: At the present

         19  time.

         20                 MS. GOLDFINGER: We are just in a

         21  drafting stage at this point. That could easily

         22  change between now and when the RFEI is released.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So then the

         24  concept that there would be, I forget the exact

         25  words that the Commissioner and Council Member Reed
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          2  used, but the concept that there would be more --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Enrichment.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Enrichment.

          5  That there would be an enrichment of cultural

          6  resources in the neighborhood is actually a wish,

          7  not anything all based in fact.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I think we'll all

          9  agree that's a wish.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Would you not,

         12  Commissioner?

         13                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Yes. I was just

         14  going to add that insofar as it is possible, my

         15  department would, in working with EDC, be extremely

         16  strong on the subject that we would like another

         17  cultural institution.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: How far is it

         19  possible? You said insofar as it's possible, how

         20  possible is it? I mean, does that mean that you will

         21  demand it require it?

         22                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Well, I think

         23  it's as possible as anything can be, and I have not

         24  been known in the almost eight years I've been in

         25  this job for being silent on these matters.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And I

          3  appreciate that, but silence and voice are not

          4  necessarily the same thing as the power to require

          5  and mandate.

          6                 So, my concern is that there is a

          7  real thing there that will leave and then will enter

          8  into a process where there is no commitment where

          9  even if the concept of a cultural institution has

         10  the strongest possible bully-pulpit imaginable,

         11  there is no real ability there for DCA to require or

         12  mandate.

         13                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: Other than what

         14  I've expressed, technically you are right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Let me just

         16  share for the record, part of my particular concern

         17  about this is that I represent a district that in

         18  the sixties and seventies had a City-funded

         19  recreation center. That recreation center was a pool

         20  and a gym and an everything, was torn down because

         21  the federal government needed to expand the general

         22  post office, and the federal government and the City

         23  government said, but don't worry, we'll build you

         24  another one. And they began to build another one, we

         25  had the commitment that that's what they would do,
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          2  and now, in 2001, a half-finished gym remains on

          3  West 25th Street in Chelsea. And we have had the

          4  strongest bully-pulpet and the strongest advocates

          5  and the loudest voices raised and we still have a

          6  building where you go in the door, make a left at

          7  the files the Parks Department keeps there, you step

          8  forward, you look down, there's a drain, you look

          9  up, there's a hill because you're in the pool.

         10                 So, I get very concerned, as someone

         11  who is experienced, when you take something away,

         12  the idea that you may get something back.

         13                 I'm sorry, I didn't catch the name of

         14  the woman who was speaking as I came back in from

         15  getting coffee, but you were speaking about a band

         16  that had gotten struck in traffic?

         17                 MS. ROSSETTI: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: That was a

         19  Salsa band?

         20                 MS. ROSSETTI: It was a Salsa band.

         21  Clavasule is a Salsa band from Washington Heights.

         22  It's comprised of students from the community.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: They come with

         24  themselves, costumes, maybe instruments?

         25                 MS. ROSSETTI: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Although I very

          3  much appreciated the idea of trying to move things

          4  in a place where you don't get stuck in traffic,

          5  it's hard for me to imagine that if the museum is at

          6  the Tweed Courthouse, that the Salsa band is going

          7  to get on the subway with all their stuff and schlep

          8  down here. I mean, I think they're going to be in a

          9  different bus, potentially in different traffic, so

         10  the idea that that would solve the problem I think

         11  is just unrealistic unless they're like a kazoo band

         12  and they can keep it in their pocket and they are

         13  dressed in the outfits that they are wearing.

         14                 That's all. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         16                 May I, I have three other people --

         17  two others, and may I remind my Council members that

         18  we have three other people to testify. So, if we

         19  could just, you know, I don't want to stop anyone,

         20  but I do. Thank you.

         21                 Council Member Robinson, followed by

         22  Council Member Provenzano. Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you,

         24  again, Chairman Foster. In regards to --

         25  Commissioner Chapin, in regards to the timetable for
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          2  the Museum of the City of New York to relocate to

          3  the Tweed Court building, what is the timetable for

          4  that, please?

          5                 COMMISSIONER CHAPIN: I would ask the

          6  museum director, Dr. Macdonald, to address that,

          7  because he can do it much more precisely.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: All right,

          9  thank you.

         10                 DR. MACDONALD: We believe that

         11  between 18 and 24 months to transfer the museum's

         12  functions. During the time the museum will continue

         13  a full line of exhibitions, educational programs, at

         14  its current site.

         15                 One of the reasons the trustees

         16  accepted the Mayor's proposal was that the museum

         17  would not have to close its services to the people

         18  of the City, the student teachers, but the design

         19  work, the fabrication, the installation of our

         20  programming at the Tweed will take about 18 to 24

         21  months.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Okay.

         23                 Now, certainly before that, I just

         24  want to say that I think that in your description of

         25  what you've already done and what you've proposed to
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          2  do is certainly going to be of benefit to the City

          3  of New York, and I applaud those efforts. But,

          4  however, I do think that, as it has been discussed

          5  here already, the continued operation of services of

          6  a museum in the current location, being that El

          7  Museo Del Barrio is not a given that it will be

          8  located there.

          9                 The other question I want to ask is,

         10  then after you leave the City of New York in its

         11  current location, how long is it between the time

         12  that EDC issues an RFP for that location?

         13                 MS. GOLDFINGER: We're hoping to time

         14  it so that when the museum leaves, we'll have a new

         15  entity ready to move in.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: So, are you

         17  saying to us that there would have not been any

         18  lapse, whereas the place will be boarded up and so

         19  on and so forth because there will be no one in that

         20  facility?

         21                 MS. GOLDFINGER: Well, that's the

         22  timing that we are working on now.  That's why we

         23  would like to start soon with this RFEI, so that we

         24  have enough time to get the -- you know, identify

         25  the right entity.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Okay. I

          3  would hope that the Commissioner of Cultural

          4  Affairs, and also museum advocates, cultural

          5  advocates, would certainly advocate that we would

          6  have an additional museum in that location. I think

          7  we have established that kind of presence within the

          8  community, and if we want to expand, I think that we

          9  should - and enrich, I think that we should really

         10  have a lot of advocacy around that. But most

         11  importantly is the political will. If the political

         12  will is manifested we can do anything, because

         13  certainly the RFP can be written so that it would

         14  attract only certain kind of institutions that would

         15  apply for use of that space.

         16                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         18  much, Council Member Robinson.

         19                 May I say that the three witnesses we

         20  need to hear, I would like for you Council members

         21  to remain, if you can, because they are from the

         22  community.

         23                 All right, Council Member Provenzano.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         25  Two short questions.
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          2                 Just to clarify something for me. The

          3  $85 million has already been allocated there, it's

          4  being used, it's -- everything's in place, it's a

          5  go?

          6                 MR. GLICKMAN: We've probably spent at

          7  this time about $50 million and we expect the Tweed

          8  Courthouse to be substantially complete by the end

          9  of this year, and therefore, we will have spent the

         10  $85 million probably by the 1st of next year.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay.

         12                 Our director, and I guess all of you

         13  really, have talked about some of the benefit of

         14  this move being a partnership between the City of

         15  New York and the museum being now located at Tweed.

         16                 I'm just wondering how far this

         17  partnership will go, as regards to the City Council

         18  which did have a part in allocating this money by

         19  approving it in the City budget; did we not?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: No.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: No? It was

         22  other kinds of --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: No, we were not

         24  consulted.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay, so
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          2  scratch that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I think, Council

          4  member, that there will be a new Administration and

          5  a new Council, and that's something they will have

          6  to take up. We've never had this type of thing in

          7  the eight years -- in the 24 years I've been here,

          8  I've never seen anything of this sort occur

          9  previously.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay. What

         11  I would like to clarify is, you said that you will

         12  have, you know, large auditoriums, there will be a

         13  reception area. It's my understanding there will be

         14  a food service. Will we, as City Council members, be

         15  welcome to have, be able to avail ourselves of this,

         16  be able to have receptions there?

         17                 DR. MACDONALD: Yes, Councilwoman.

         18                 In here, just briefly, in addition to

         19  the exhibitions and the learning center, we talk

         20  about celebration, and that this new Museum of the

         21  City of New York will be a showcase for the people

         22  of New York and visitors to the City.

         23                 We, obviously, being adjacent to City

         24  Hall, have a special relationship with elected

         25  officials of this City.
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          2                 I'd like to think not only in terms

          3  of service to you, the City Council, in our

          4  particular area, which is the history of New York,

          5  research and also providing programs, as we've done

          6  in the past, to address issues of contemporary

          7  importance in a historical context.

          8                 Many of the Council members probably

          9  don't know, but 14 years ago we did a big program on

         10  the history of homelessness in New York.

         11  Homelessness has been part of this City since the

         12  time of New Amsterdam. We also put the AIDS epidemic

         13  in historical context with a scholarly symposium

         14  conference in a book. Arab New York is an example of

         15  how we've attempted to put in historical context the

         16  diversity that has made this City great.

         17                 So, we will be able to be a resource

         18  for the City Council, not to provide answers because

         19  history really doesn't provide answers, but without

         20  a knowledge of the past, you can't find answers to

         21  the problems of the present.

         22                 We will also be able to better serve

         23  your constituents from this site, the school

         24  children, the teachers from all over the City.

         25                 So, in many ways, to answer your
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          2  question, I think the museum will be of much greater

          3  service to the City of New York and its elected

          4  officials from the Tweed Courthouse.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So, we

          6  will be able to approach you with an idea and say

          7  maybe we would like to do, you know, something for a

          8  particular segment of a community --

          9                 DR. MACDONALD: Absolutely.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: You're a

         11  not-for-profit, so the cost of maintaining the

         12  museum at the Tweed Courthouse, how will it compare

         13  to maintaining it at your present site? And I guess,

         14  how will that be done? Where are the funds coming

         15  from after we've spent the 85 million -- I would

         16  imagine you will have to expand on your resources to

         17  bring in more money to maintain it?

         18                 MR. MACDONALD: Currently the museum's

         19  annual gross budget is $6 million. Of that, 27, 28

         20  percent is City funding through the Department of

         21  Cultural Affairs.

         22                 Our partnership with the City of New

         23  York began in 1927, they didn't call it CIGs or

         24  cultural institutions then, but essentially that's

         25  what we were.
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          2                 We are projecting that our annual

          3  budget will increase to about 8.5 million at the

          4  Tweed, primarily for security staff, maintenance.

          5                 We haven't worked out with the City

          6  specifically the maintenance with the equipment in

          7  the building, because the equipment is also tied

          8  with other buildings in the civic center. That has

          9  to be worked out.

         10                 One of the reasonings behind the

         11  Board's decision was the retail marketing, the food

         12  service. The museum will be able to do much better

         13  in earned income, which is essential for non-profits

         14  today, just from a business perspective.

         15                 We already have an important

         16  licensing program, working with QVC. We are branding

         17  New York and reproductions from this collection.

         18                 The retail shop at the Tweed, along

         19  with a visitors center, our retail shop will include

         20  a visitors center where New Yorkers and tourists can

         21  plan their journey through New York City, can buy

         22  tickets to events, sporting events, cultural events.

         23  So, it will be a place not only as a gateway to

         24  figure out or to learn more about why New York is

         25  New York, but also to plan your expiration of what
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          2  is essentially a great museum without walls.

          3                 So, in many different ways, being at

          4  the Tweed we feel we can advance our mission to

          5  serve the people of this City in significantly new

          6  ways from this location.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: And

          8  lastly, despite our discussions here today, this

          9  process is basically a fait accompli. So, our

         10  concerns now I guess should be what to do, as my

         11  colleagues have said, with the location that will be

         12  vacated?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I think it's a

         14  fair statement.

         15                 What she just said is a fair

         16  statement, don't you think, sir?

         17                 DR. MACDONALD: Well, I do. The Board

         18  of Trustees, as you know, they have a fiduciary

         19  responsibility for really what is the most important

         20  part of this City's historical patrimony, to

         21  maintain it, to pass it on to the next generation.

         22  And I think Council Member Reed said it well when he

         23  said if I were a trustee of that museum, I would

         24  have voted to accept the Mayor's offer. And the

         25  Board, it was a very difficult one, because we know
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          2  of the sensitivity. But the Board, in their

          3  resolution, underscored the fact that the museum

          4  will continue through program a special relationship

          5  with the East Harlem community in the coming years.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Mr. Chair, I was

          9  not going to comment. But you know, if we abdicate

         10  our responsibility as Council members, then almost

         11  anything around here is going to be a fait accompli.

         12  So, you know, I have the utmost respect, and I

         13  really mean that, for Council Member Provenzano, and

         14  you're right, there is a fatalism about this. But I

         15  refuse to accept the fact that we have ultimate

         16  responsibility for the budget of the City of New

         17  York, both the capital and the expense budget, and

         18  if we're going to sit here and accept the fact that

         19  this is a fait accompli, we have a new

         20  Administration that will have to make some decisions

         21  about this. The irony to me is that Commissioner

         22  Chapin refers to, and Mr. Macdonald refers to this

         23  as museum of city government. This isn't necessarily

         24  the museum of city government.

         25                 We have a building right across the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            108

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  street there at the Surrogate Court, which houses

          3  all the official records of the City of New York.

          4                 That building, we have spent a lot of

          5  money doing climate control, that building is about

          6  to fall down, they are looking right now for places

          7  to keep the City records, and everybody on this

          8  Committee, I think, and Government Ops has had a

          9  chance to visit that and to see the archival

         10  information that they have about the real history of

         11  the City of New York.

         12                 Right now DORIS, the Department of

         13  Records and Information Services has 22 leases

         14  around the City of New York to house the records,

         15  the official archive of the City of New York. Now, I

         16  don't mean to denigrate by any imagination what it

         17  is that you have at the City of New York, but the

         18  official documentation of the City of New York is

         19  being housed willy-nilly all over the City and we're

         20  paying money for it.

         21                 So, I think that if we have a real

         22  political will and we have a discussion about this,

         23  we may end up with something that gives us a

         24  reception hall that we, as Council members, can have

         25  over there at the Tweed Courthouse, that reflects
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          2  obviously the history of the City of New York, that

          3  perhaps benefits the Museum of the City of -- and I

          4  think we can all win. But I've been, you know,

          5  trying to make sure that this Committee works with

          6  me to make sure that my community, nor the City of

          7  New York's archives lose in this whole discussion.

          8                 So, Council Member Provenzano,

          9  nothing in government is a fait accompli.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Let me thank you

         11  for the statement, both of you.

         12                 I think what we should understand,

         13  though, is the $80 million was in the budget, the

         14  Mayor presented it to us, we voted for it, but we

         15  did not vote for the move. There's a difference. We

         16  voted for the renovation of the Tweed building. We

         17  are here discussing what's going to happen to the

         18  other community.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Well, that

         20  was my question, $85 million was in our City budget,

         21  which we voted on.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: It was in the

         23  budget.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very
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          2  much. May I thank you for coming, please. This has

          3  been a healthy discussion, and I believe that we

          4  will all go away trying to find the solution that

          5  will please most people, if not all of us.

          6                 DR. DONALDSON: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          8                 May I remind our Council members,

          9  that you were given a notice of the change of our

         10  time for our next meeting.

         11                 May I have Alex Herrera come, please?

         12  Is Alex Herrera here?

         13                 MR. HERRERA: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         15                 Joining him, is this Abner A. Layne?

         16  Is this Deborah Quinones? Would you come, please?

         17                 And may I apologize for having you

         18  wait.

         19                 Commissioner and Dr. Macdonald, and

         20  your people, thank you all for coming.

         21                 I apologize for the long time you had

         22  to wait, as you can see we had a lot of business to

         23  take care of.

         24                 Now, Mr. Herrera, would you introduce

         25  yourself for the record, please, and begin your
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          2  testimony. Thank you all for coming.

          3                 Thank you for the book, Doctor.

          4                 MR. HERRERA: Good afternoon. My name

          5  is Alex Herrera, and I'm the Director of Technical

          6  Services at the New York Landmarks Conservancy, and

          7  I'm here today on behalf of my organization.

          8                 For those of you who may not know,

          9  the conservancy is the City's largest private

         10  preservation organization, founded about 30 years

         11  ago, and supported by private contributions.

         12                 We provide financial and technical

         13  assistance to cultural and religious institutions,

         14  not-for-profits, as well as home-owners, all who

         15  face the challenge of maintaining and restoring

         16  their historic buildings.

         17                 The New York County Courthouse, also

         18  known as the Tweed Courthouse, is a remarkable

         19  building. First considered for designation at a

         20  public hearing held on October 19th, 1965, which I

         21  think must have been the very first hearing that the

         22  Landmarks Commission had, it was made a landmark on

         23  February 1, 1966, thus it joined the very first

         24  group of great buildings to be granted landmark

         25  status and to be protected by landmarks law.
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          2                 The Landmarks Conservancy, my group,

          3  has had a hand in the preservation of the building

          4  since the 1970s. Shortly after Mayor Beame announced

          5  that he would like to see the Courthouse demolished,

          6  the conservancy raised money and commissioned

          7  architectural and engineering studies that

          8  facilitated the installation of a new roof.

          9                 The old roof, as well as the gigantic

         10  skylight over the central atrium, had long since

         11  given up any claim to water tightness and the rain

         12  fell almost as heavily inside as outside.

         13                 Without the new roof, the building

         14  would have probably not have been able to survive

         15  the seventies.

         16                 Today this terrific restoration

         17  program underway, the architect for the restoration

         18  project, Jack Waite, is one of the most capable

         19  professionals we know.

         20                 He enjoys a national reputation for

         21  his fine projects, including the restoration of the

         22  New York and Tennessee State capitals, as well as

         23  many of the buildings at the University of Virginia

         24  and even Mount Vernon.

         25                 Based on our many recent tours, the
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          2  work underway is really terrific.

          3                 We believe that when finished it will

          4  rank with Grand Central Terminal, the New York

          5  Public Library, Ellis Island, as one of the most

          6  important recent preservation projects in the

          7  country.

          8                 With regard to the cost of the

          9  project, it should be said that part of it at least

         10  is due to the fact that the building was allowed to

         11  fall into terrible disrepair. Much of the cost is

         12  also necessary to bring the building into

         13  conformance with a high level, high standards of

         14  life safety and environmental safety.

         15                 The former courthouse is

         16  unquestionably a superb example of 29th Century

         17  American architecture, and deserves a new life.

         18  Therefore, we believe that the conservancy, that the

         19  party is responsible for the restoration and

         20  adaptive reuse of the building should be praised.

         21                 They deserve credit for saving one of

         22  the most interesting and colorful historic monuments

         23  in the City, and for giving it a whole new role to

         24  play in the future of the City.

         25                 For the first time in years, the old
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          2  Courthouse will be open to the public and will

          3  inform and instruct us all, not only through the

          4  world class exhibits it will house, but also through

          5  its own fascinating history, and its proximity to

          6  the heart of City government.

          7                 The many busloads of children who

          8  will visit the museum of the City of New York will

          9  have an opportunity to see and experience the civic

         10  center as well.

         11                 They will see where their government

         12  does its work and will be able to associate a real

         13  place with the functioning of their elected

         14  representatives in City government.

         15                 We also view the relocation as part

         16  of the ongoing revitalization of downtown Manhattan

         17  and the Civic Center.

         18                 Naturally, we're also concerned about

         19  the elegant building on Fifth Avenue that the museum

         20  will vacate, that, too, is an important and

         21  beautiful work of architecture.

         22                 However, we feel that in the light of

         23  the real interest that has been expressed already by

         24  various responsible institutions for that building,

         25  coupled with the fact that it is protective by the
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          2  Landmarks law, we are confident that the museum's

          3  old home will itself be reborn and revitalized by

          4  new and exciting use.

          5                 In other words, we see this very much

          6  as a win/win proposition. It is an opportunity that

          7  should not be wasted.

          8                 We are very much in support of this

          9  idea, and believe that everyone will gain from the

         10  relocation of the Museum of the City of New York

         11  into the restored New York County Courthouse.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Are you in a

         14  position to tell us who are some of the people that

         15  may have applied for that?

         16                 MR. HERRERA: I'm sorry?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: You mentioned

         18  people that are interested in the old museum; do you

         19  know of any of them?

         20                 Could you share that information?

         21                 MR. HERRERA: Well, by that I meant

         22  the Board of Trustees of the Museum of the City of

         23  New York, who voted in favor of the tremendous --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: No, that's not

         25  what I mean.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            116

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 I thought I understood you to say

          3  that there were other agencies and organizations

          4  interested in --

          5                 MR. HERRERA: Oh, responsible

          6  institutions? Well, I think, as mentioned before,

          7  I've heard and I read in the paper that El Museu Del

          8  Barrio was very interested in relocating to this

          9  building, as well as the Museum of African Art, and

         10  the Request for Expressions of Interest hasn't even

         11  been, you know, written.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I see. Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 Lady Deborah, from Community Board

         15  11, perhaps you can enlighten us on some of those

         16  interested parties, in addition to your testimony.

         17                 MS. QUINONES: Good afternoon.

         18                 I wanted to take this opportunity to

         19  say how grateful I was, to take a little bit of time

         20  to represent East Harlem.

         21                 My name is Deborah Quinones, and I am

         22  here on behalf of Community Board 11, where I serve

         23  as the Chairperson on the Cultural Affairs

         24  Committee, and today I come before this Committee to

         25  applaud them in their efforts to review and
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          2  investigate the City's role in the relocation of the

          3  City of the Museum of New York and to conduct a cost

          4  assessment.

          5                 We at the Community Board encourage a

          6  development of a feasibility study and hope to share

          7  the findings with our community.

          8                 The December 14th announcement in the

          9  New York Times regarding the relocation of the

         10  Museum of the City of New York to the Tweed Building

         11  was a shock to us, especially since there was no

         12  notification to the community, and we had no idea

         13  that this was an issue of concern with the museum.

         14                 The role of the Cultural Affairs

         15  Committee is to develop recommendations for the

         16  development of cultural tourism and preservation

         17  initiatives that affect or include East Harlem.

         18                 In addition, we also review the

         19  funding of cultural programs funded by the

         20  Department of Cultural Affairs, and we are

         21  concerned, in order to prepare for this site for the

         22  relocation of the museum, the museum's vast

         23  collection, that it would require $13 million to

         24  modify a $90 million renovation that was just

         25  completed.
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          2                 This money would reduce East Harlem's

          3  ability to develop and support cultural programs,

          4  and we are very concerned about that.

          5                 And the use of the Tweed Building

          6  should not be at the cost of East Harlem Programs.

          7                 In addition to that, to respond to

          8  what you're saying about responsible institutions,

          9  there seems to be many discussions about what can

         10  happen with the Museum of the City of New York, and

         11  one of the things that we're stressing at the

         12  community board is to look at the lessons that we've

         13  learned in dealing with issues like this,

         14  particularly with Julio Deburgos, which was supposed

         15  to be a Latino cultural center that was also

         16  City-owned, that was looked to as an opportunity to

         17  bring cultural groups together, and they were going

         18  to move in and we were going to have a premiere

         19  cultural institution.

         20                 Unfortunately, what has happened is

         21  that through the City control, we only have two

         22  groups in this building, and we have a school in

         23  there, and we don't have the type of building that

         24  we thought we would have. And the concern that we

         25  have at the community board is that there is going
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          2  to be a repeat of this issue. You know, you can say

          3  whatever you want, that, you know, we encourage you

          4  to put a cultural institution in there, we have

          5  groups that are interested, we will assist them, but

          6  I really have to caution this Committee, to look at

          7  the issue of the Julio Deburgos, which was supposed

          8  to be the same thing.

          9                 The other thing is that when you talk

         10  about these responsible cultural institutions that

         11  have expressed interest, these institutions have

         12  other opportunities to expand, that they can look

         13  at.

         14                 The Museo Del Barrio has an

         15  opportunity to fix up a firehouse that they have on

         16  Lexington Avenue. We don't hear any conversations

         17  about that. And they've had this firehouse for 30

         18  years. We've been waiting 30 years for this

         19  firehouse to be developed.

         20                 I applaud what the Museo is doing in

         21  terms of trying to create an institution that

         22  promotes Puerto Rican and Latino art, but I caution

         23  the Museo in their expansion efforts to, not to

         24  abandon the other issues that they have outstanding,

         25  and that's with a firehouse that's on Lexington
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          2  Avenue.

          3                 The issue is that Fifth Avenue is a

          4  wonderful place to be, and we know that. We see

          5  tourism and cultural initiatives booming around this

          6  City, but we don't see that in East Harlem as the

          7  way that it should be occurring. And we are very

          8  concerned that if this museum is relocated with no

          9  opportunity for the development of an advisory board

         10  to work with EDC to review and understand the

         11  lessons that we've learned from dealing with the

         12  City's, the Julio Deburgos and a wonderful building

         13  that was going to be transformed into a cultural

         14  institution, we're going to lose and we're going to

         15  lose big.

         16                 Just in wrapping up, the museum, and

         17  I have a very close personal relationship -- I grew

         18  up down the block from the Museum of the City of New

         19  York. My mother still lives there, she's living in

         20  the same apartment for 55 years, and many people say

         21  that the Museum of the City of New York has no

         22  relationship with the community, and I have to say

         23  that that's not true. In recent years they have done

         24  phenomenal work in working with community-based

         25  organizations to develop exhibitions that reflect
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          2  our community, our cultural diversity, and to move a

          3  community, to move this institution out of this

          4  community, I find, is very concerning to use. East

          5  Harlem is part of New York City, we deserve our fair

          6  share of cultural institutions. We commend this

          7  cultural institution for developing exhibitions that

          8  represent the Puerto Rican community, and now with

          9  this moving out without any notification, sends a

         10  message to other museums that they can treat us the

         11  same way. And we are concerned about that. We are

         12  concerned about the perception that East Harlem

         13  doesn't have a cultural identity, that we don't

         14  deserve the benefits of a world class institution.

         15                 I know that growing up down the

         16  block, I was a little girl and they had a summer

         17  program where they opened up their garden and it was

         18  the best time of my life, you know? And I can tell

         19  you, being 15 years on the community board, that the

         20  museum had come before the community board to

         21  develop the back part of the museum with this

         22  wonderful atrium that was going to be the

         23  state-of-the-art and we're still waiting.

         24                 In wrapping up, I just want to say

         25  that we're having our own community forum tomorrow
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          2  to inform the community, because not many people

          3  even know, and a lot of people don't even understand

          4  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Most of us knew,

          6  like you did, when we first saw it in the Times.

          7                 MS. QUINONES: Yes. And, so, we got

          8  calls at the Cultural Affairs Committee saying how

          9  could you not know about that? You know, it was

         10  really a slap in the face to this community, and I

         11  really want to applaud this Committee for taking out

         12  the time to even look at this issue for us, and I

         13  just wanted to thank you.

         14                 If you have any questions?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 Thank you for your testimony. I hope

         18  you will have a good attendance tomorrow.

         19                 Mr. Layne, would you identify

         20  yourself?

         21                 Oh, I'm sorry, excuse me. Council

         22  Member Robinson.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: I just

         24  wanted to comment, just to let you know that, in

         25  terms of you are talking about in recent years that
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          2  the museum has become I guess more approachable and

          3  more active within the community. I dare to say that

          4  over these past eight years, that since you've had

          5  such a diverse City Council, that one of our

          6  concerns was that we would enrich and expand the

          7  opportunities for all of the people of New York to

          8  participate in all of the cultural institutions.

          9                 So, that's part of it, that we have

         10  put our money where our mouths are in terms of

         11  enriching the cultural institutions, and that goes

         12  to the diversity of this City Council that makes a

         13  difference.

         14                 MS. QUINONES: I'm sorry, I just want

         15  to respond to that.

         16                 The museum had made significant

         17  relationships with community groups and has sought

         18  to reflect our diversity in the museum expeditions,

         19  they have been very approachable.

         20                 But the concern is that, do they do

         21  that for a little while and then do they leave, and

         22  do other museums treat us the same way, or do we

         23  take the opportunity to enhance, because we are

         24  talking about enrichments and enhancements, we need

         25  to enhance and enrich the relationships that we have

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            124

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  with this museum, and to let them know that if

          3  transportation is an issue, then maybe they need

          4  better maps on how to get up here. I don't know

          5  about that because I have been traveling an hour and

          6  a half to go to Staten Island and that, you know,

          7  that wasn't a problem for me, but I guess it's a

          8  problem for other people to come uptown past 96th

          9  Street.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. Thank

         11  you very much.

         12                 Mr. Layne, please.

         13                 MR. LAYNE: My name is Abner Layne.

         14  I'm a resident and stockholder in a cooperative at

         15  1270 Fifth Avenue, which is a couple of blocks north

         16  of the Museum of the City of New York.

         17                 I beg your indulgence, because, one,

         18  I'm 81 years old, two, I have a central tremor,

         19  which means if I handle a piece of paper it will

         20  flutter like a leaf in the wind, and I'm not in very

         21  good voice today.

         22                 I first met Councilman Reed at a

         23  meeting of the Community Board 11 where I realized

         24  suddenly that 1270 Fifth Avenue has allies, we don't

         25  want to lose that wonderful Museum of the City of
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          2  New York, it is a wonderful museum, and I have

          3  thought so since the first date I had with my wife

          4  of 36 years, was at the Museum of the City of New

          5  York, and that makes it a wonderful place. We were

          6  married. Two years later we moved up to 1270 Fifth

          7  Avenue, where I have lived for 41 years, and it was

          8  a sort of test now, and it was -- she passed the

          9  test, and we have been to museums in London, Paris,

         10  Berlin, you name it. We do other things to, but --

         11  or we did other things, too.

         12                 I wrote up a piece and I'm so

         13  unprepared that I only made a copy for a couple of

         14  copies, why the Museum of the City of New York is in

         15  exactly the right place.

         16                 I heard the objections of the present

         17  management of the Museum of the City of New York

         18  concerning transit, and certainly Councilman Reed

         19  destroyed every vestage that this is a big handicap

         20  for the Museum of the City of New York.

         21                 After all, I have lived up there, a

         22  little bit north of the museum, and I have commuted

         23  from that place to my -- all the way own to the tip

         24  of Manhattan when I worked for Standard and Poors.

         25                 So, the transit business is just a
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          2  will of the wisp, it's not really important for the

          3  location of the Museum of the City of New York for

          4  where it is.

          5                 We've got three, four bus lines that

          6  go up and down within a block of it, we have three

          7  different subway stops and all 200 of our residents

          8  at 1270 have never had any trouble commuting to

          9  work, to midtown, and as I said, way down town.

         10                 The other thing I'd like to address

         11  is the business of history. There is no doubt about

         12  it, this is a very -- this, City Hall Park, and the

         13  Tweed Courthouse are located in very historic areas.

         14  This is a wonderfully historic area, but so is the

         15  Museum of the City of New York where it is. This may

         16  have been the cultural birthplace of the City of New

         17  York, but where the Museum of the City of New York

         18  is right now, was a place where the United States

         19  could have died. I wrote that all up, made only one

         20  copy, so let me just briefly tell you why New York

         21  and the United States almost died right there where

         22  the Museum of the City of New York is.

         23                 In 1776, Washington, having been

         24  defeated, badly defeated, in Brooklyn, crossed the

         25  river, went over to Manhattan, hotly pursued by
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          2  General William, Sir William Howell, with roughly

          3  30,000 Red Coats, Haitians, Scotts, Irish troops,

          4  all wearing beautiful red coats. It was September,

          5  and we've all lived through New York in September,

          6  it can be very hot, and it was terribly hot, and Sir

          7  William Howell was an easy-going, cautious, even

          8  kind of a dilatory commander, so would you be when

          9  only 20 years before General Bradock was ambushed

         10  and with his aid, George Washington, defeated by the

         11  French and Indians. So, he led in caution, and he

         12  cautiously pursued the beaten Americans. They

         13  stopped, of course, for a little wine and cakes up

         14  there on the way, but he got to, two hours after

         15  this indulgence, he got to right where the Museum of

         16  the City of New York is, and if you stand on the

         17  Terrace of the Museum, and you look up, there is a

         18  high hill. At that time it was called McGowan's

         19  Pass, right now it's called The Mount, but when it

         20  was McGowan's Pass, there was a little, there was a

         21  tavern, a rough and ready sort of tavern up there,

         22  so that if you had a wagon-load of goods you wanted

         23  to transport from the Bosky Post Road (phonetic) to

         24  the other side of the island, you'd stop at

         25  McGowan's for a little refreshment. Washington put
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          2  some spies, should we say, observers up there at

          3  McGowan's Pass, and suddenly a remarkable thing

          4  happened. As I said, Sir William was very cautious,

          5  and he decided that Washington and his troops must

          6  have been hours ahead of him, they were going pretty

          7  fast, but in truth they were only ten minutes ahead

          8  of them, nevertheless, it was hot, he was dressed

          9  with his thick red jacket, and he called a halt. And

         10  right there where the Museum of the City of New York

         11  is, they stopped and bilowacked, they were already

         12  two hours late, and they stopped bilowacked and they

         13  took another ten hours, the next morning to rouse

         14  the troops. Washington did keep legging it on, he

         15  went up to Harlem Heights, and fortified it, and

         16  managed to fight off the British and a few small

         17  engagements, but then decided to go over to New

         18  Jersey, and from there the war went on. It almost

         19  ended right there, but the war went on for several

         20  years. And it took seven years before the British

         21  colonists, the colonists after all were mostly

         22  British, Dutch, New York, of course, was, as always,

         23  a wonderfully heterogeneous place, always, and the

         24  war had to go on for seven years or the British, who

         25  kept, the King kept trying to bring his colonists
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          2  back into the fold simply because he loved the

          3  words, he was, you know, third generation German in

          4  Britain, and he loved woods, and we had lots of

          5  woods over here, so it took seven years of hard

          6  fighting and a lot of distress and a lot of misery

          7  before most of the people in the united colonies

          8  decided we can do without our British cousins.

          9                 So, that area is a point at which

         10  this country almost died, but didn't because someone

         11  decided to have a sleepover camp, and you can see it

         12  right there at the Museum of the City of New York.

         13                 I wish I could pass this among you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: If you would pass

         15  it to the Sergeant, he will have copies made for

         16  you.

         17                 MR. LAYNE: Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Sergeant, give it

         19  to him and he'll have copies made.

         20                 Thank you very much, that's quite

         21  interesting. Quite interesting. You are quite a

         22  historian, aren't you?

         23                 All right, any questions?

         24                 All right, Mr. Himmelstein, thank you

         25  for speaking to us.
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          2                 Thank you, Mr. Layne. Thank you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Before you

          4  start, I want to acknowledge that I appreciate that

          5  the community, Mr. Himmelstein even lives in the

          6  district immediately adjacent across the park, sees

          7  the mountain, so he is also a neighbor. But I

          8  certainly as your Council member appreciate you

          9  coming, Mr. Layne. It is modest to say that when he

         10  moved into that building it was the first formally

         11  recognized integrated co-op in the City of New York,

         12  it was designed as that as its theme, if I can

         13  recall. Last year we helped you burn the mortgage.

         14  So, he and his neighbors deliberately decided that

         15  this was a diverse City and they were going to live

         16  out what we so often just give lip service to. So, I

         17  wanted to thank you, sir, for coming today and

         18  testifying about maintaining our community. Thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         21                 MR. LAYNE: We still are beautifully

         22  integrated. Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         25                 Mr. Himmelstein, thank you. Sorry to
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          2  keep you so long.

          3                 MR. HIMMELSTEIN: Quite all right.

          4  Thank you for having me. I appreciate the

          5  opportunity to testify.

          6                 My name is Paul Himmelstein. I am a

          7  conservator in private practice in New York City,

          8  with a specialty in the housing of museum

          9  collections in historic buildings. And I'm here to

         10  talk a little bit about what has been described as a

         11  fait accompli with a specific budget, but which I

         12  believe will probably be a considerably higher

         13  budget for the kinds of changes that would be

         14  necessary even now in a building that has been

         15  completely, or is almost completely renovated.

         16                 I have worked at a lot of

         17  institutions like the Tweed Courthouse, including

         18  Montecello (phonetic), I have been a consultant to

         19  the Morris Jemel Mansion, the Brooklyn Public

         20  Library, the Brooklyn Historical Society, all

         21  buildings that are very much historic buildings and

         22  which have been or will be used to house historic

         23  collections.

         24                 Museum collections require very

         25  specific kinds of environment in order to preserve
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          2  them - relative humidity levels, temperature,

          3  pollution control, lighting - are all necessary to

          4  control in a way that is very different than one

          5  would control them in other buildings, in any other

          6  building. And it is usually the case that when a

          7  building which has non-housed collections, is asked

          8  to house collections, substantial changes to that

          9  building are required in order to make it a

         10  satisfactory home for collections. That includes the

         11  changes to what may be a very wonderful existing new

         12  HVAC system, a system which may have -- and I am not

         13  familiar specifically with the one that's been

         14  installed in the Tweed Courthouse, but unless it has

         15  been designed specifically to maintain museum

         16  environments, it is not -- it is likely that it

         17  would require substantial changes in order to be

         18  able to maintain those environments, not only to

         19  humidify in the winter and dehumidify in the summer

         20  and to remove gaseous and particulate pollutants to

         21  preserve collections that are both on exhibit, but

         22  more importantly, in storage where most museum

         23  collections are held most of the time.

         24                 The zoning of such a system in order

         25  to provide protection to collections that are to be
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          2  separate from food service from offices, from public

          3  spaces, is something that most buildings are not

          4  equipped with when they are designed for other

          5  purposes.

          6                 So that is likely to cost a

          7  substantial amount of money, and it is likely to be

          8  a substantial interruption in historic fabric of the

          9  building, which is usually the purpose of preserving

         10  a building in the first place, that is the

         11  introduction of mechanical systems usually requires

         12  the sacrifice of parts of historic buildings.

         13                 And there are times when the decision

         14  is made after careful study not to house collections

         15  in particular buildings because of the destruction

         16  that would be required in order to house them.

         17                 If you go to the Brooklyn Historical

         18  Society, for example, you will see the kind of

         19  rebuilding not only of mechanical systems, but of

         20  insulation and of vapor barriers in outside walls in

         21  order to provide the appropriate environment in a

         22  way that doesn't do damage to the existing

         23  buildings.

         24                 Once you humidify the building, the

         25  humidity tends to migrate through outside walls to
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          2  condense within the wall structure. And there have

          3  been historic buildings which have been so damaged

          4  by that kind of action that they have actually had

          5  to have the collections removed and built, and been

          6  rebuilt in order to make them structurally sound

          7  again.

          8                 So, it's not a question of simply

          9  moving collections into the courthouse, once the

         10  courthouse has been finished, so-called, it's, I

         11  believe, based initially on what should be a very

         12  close study of the collections that are to be moved

         13  in and of the building, that that famous phrase, it

         14  cost more than we originally thought, is likely to

         15  be the case here.

         16                 We've talked about $36 million --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: You are being

         18  kind when you say "likely".

         19                 MR. HIMMELSTEIN: All right. Let's

         20  say, I love that phrase, I see it every day in the

         21  New York Times for everything, including the savings

         22  and loan debacle and everything else. And it's been

         23  my experience, working with a lot of historic

         24  buildings, that that is always the case.

         25                 And the fact that the sacrifice of
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          2  what is considered irreplaceable historic fabric of

          3  the courthouse, to make it a suitable house for a

          4  museum with all of its functions, which is

          5  different, by the way, than a branch of a museum,

          6  which would house only certain exhibits, I think

          7  it's something that needs to be weighed very

          8  carefully, because there is a limit to historic

          9  fabric, and once it's gone, it's gone forever.

         10                 And because it looks like a museum,

         11  doesn't mean that it should be a museum.

         12                 The same thing happened very much at

         13  the customs house downtown, which houses only

         14  exhibits, by the way, and not storage, for the

         15  museum of the City of New York, and there there was

         16  a conscious attempt not to --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Museum of

         18  American Indian.

         19                 MR. HIMMELSTEIN: Museum of American

         20  Indian, I'm sorry.

         21                 There was a conscious attempt not to

         22  destroy historic fabric, and it was possible to do

         23  because the exhibits were to be self-contained, and

         24  there was to be no storage facility there, and the

         25  storage of the collection of the Museum of the
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          2  American Indian in Washington is in a new building

          3  specifically built for that purpose.

          4                 So, I think that, although as I say

          5  it may look like a building now, and we think we've

          6  done what we need to do in order to make it a

          7  suitable building, it is very likely that based on

          8  careful study, which I think needs to be done, that

          9  it really is going to require substantial amounts of

         10  renovation.

         11                 So, thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I thank you for

         13  waiting, because it was worth our time to have you

         14  testify.

         15                 And I still say that you were being

         16  kind when you said likely to overrun, because we had

         17  a tour of that building and I've never seen money

         18  poured into anything the way they poured money into

         19  that building across there, and whether we like it

         20  or not, it is going to do damage to Manhattan, it's

         21  unfortunate we were not consulted both as

         22  legislators and as residents to the community.

         23                 That's been the policy of this

         24  Administration of eight years so why should it be

         25  any different in the last nine months.
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          2                 I wish to place it on the record as

          3  Chairman, I'm grateful to Council Member Reed for

          4  bringing this before us, and for all the people that

          5  testified, including you, sir, and to the Council

          6  Members who thought it not proper, to sit here with

          7  us and hear this.

          8                 We are -- it kind of makes you feel a

          9  little helpless to know that people can just

         10  arbitrarily come in and move a cultural institution

         11  out and say in - what's that word again? Probably,

         12  or what is it, possibly of something coming in?

         13                 It would appear to me that some

         14  thoughts should have gone into what would happen to

         15  that present structure, and I was not satisfied with

         16  answers I received in reference to the money that

         17  had been raised, apparently from what the president

         18  said, Dr. Macdonald, a man I admire greatly, but

         19  apparently he gave the donors no option. He simply

         20  asked them would they allow that money to be used

         21  down here. He made no mention of the fact that they

         22  gave that money to restore a building in East

         23  Harlem.

         24                 Thank you all for coming. It will

         25  soon be over, we have nine months of this.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, again.

          5                 We stand adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 3:40 p.m.)
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